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OPPOSITION TO PETITION 

SHORT STATEMENT OF MATTER INVOLVED 

While Petitioner grossly misstates the nature of the 

instant case, he does hint at its heart - the lack of a bona

fide dispute as to any material allegation in a suit to collect 

on a defaulted credit card account. Indeed, he pleaded, as many 

debtors do, a general denial claiming lack of knowledge or 

information. Thereafter, in declining meaningful response to 

legitimate discovery and failing to raise a genuine issue of 

material fact, his strategic lack of candor became evident. 

In response to Respondent's Sununary Judgment Motion, 

Petitioner made no denial that the account was his; offered no 

challenge as to the amount sought; and offered nothing to 

controvert Respondent's claimed ownership of the account. What 

Petitioner did state was that his denial as pleaded had changed 

from a lack of knowledge or information, to "Plaintiff's failure 

to provide proof" of its ownership and right to collect. 

is simply not a denial but a refusal to admit. 

This 

Here an Answer was filed pro se with such "status" 

maintained just before the close of discovery. With further 

discovery precluded and a trial date looming, counsel emerged to 

argue that Respondent could not muster sufficient facts upon 

which to proceed. Unfortunately this has become the familiar 

pattern of practice. 



While a defendant may be non-revealing in his/her 

appearance/answer, he/she may not when faced with legitimate 

discovery. With Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, 

Petitioner's failure to provide meaningful discovery was in 

stark counterpoint to his Counsel's call to disallow 

Respondent's proofs as unexcepted hearsay. 

It is Respondent's position that the N.J.R.E. 803(c} (6) 

exception applied and that N.J.R.E. 101(a) (4) allows a jurist to 

disregard such exclusionary rule in the absence of a bona-fide 

dispute of fact. Petitioner asserted no dispute of fact in 

either his pleading, discovery or certification in opposition to 

Respondent's Motion for Summa~y Judgment. Without a bona-fide 

dispute the motion court could review the relevant evidence. 

The standards for summary judgment are well-settled. In the 

matter at hand a material fact about which no genuine issue 

existed was Respondent's ownership, being amply and competently 

expressed by Respondent's Managing Director. Against same 

Petitioner offered nothing. With 18 monthly credit card 

statements including the periodic statement for the last billing 

cycle, Respondent established its prima facie case. 

Once Respondent presented competent proofs the burden of 

establishing a "genuine issue of material fact" fell to 

Petitioner. With no fact(s) offered, this burden was unmet. If 

what Respondent claimed was neither true nor accurate, how easy 
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would it have been to say that it was not my account, or the 

balance was incorrect, or that he never authorized the charges. 

Our rules of court are to be "construed to secure a just 

determination, simplicity in procedure, fairness in 

administration and the elimination of unjustifiable expense and 

delay." Similarly, our rules of evidence are to "be construed 

to secure fairness in administration and elimination of 

unjustified expense and delay". See R. 1:1-2 and N.J.R.E. 102. 

Applying same against the Opinion, it is clear that the grant of 

summary judgment against Petitioner was not. only proper but 

mandated by the application of said rules and controlling 

precedent. See LVNV Funding, LLC v. Colvell, 421 N.J. Super. 1 

(App. Div. 2011). Petitioner grossly overstates the impact of 

the Opinion on "tens of thousands of lawsuits brought annually 

against New Jersey citizens." Petition, p.1. To the contrary, 

the impact of the Opinion is limited to those who, when faced 

with a motion seeking summary judgment, . cannot offer a genuine 

issue of any material fact. 

To the extent that Petitioner here urges that his defense 

embraces a larger issue implicating public importance, 

Respondent respectfully disagrees. The instant matter 

presents neither an issue of general public importance, nor 

special reason to grant certification, nor mandates the exercise 

of the Court's supervision. 
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I - Factual Background 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The instant matter is an action to collect a defaulted 

Chase Bank USA, N. A. ("Chase") credi t card account in the name 

of the Petitioner that was opened on August 16, 2004. The last 

payment on the account in the amount of $300.00 was made on June 

7, 2010. Petitioner failed to make the next payment due 

thereafter scheduled for July 9, 2010. As authorized by federal 

regulations (65 Fed. Reg. 36903), Chase charged the account off 

six months later with the balance due of $12,487.36. The charge-

off is reflected in the final periodic account statement, being 

the period account statement . for the billing cycle ending on 

January 12, 2011. 

On June 23, 2011 Chase assigned all of its rights, title 

and interest in the account to Main Street Acquisition Corp. 

("Main Street"). Thereafter, Main Street assigned all of its 

rights to MSW Capital, LLC ("MSW Capital") on July 18, 2011. 

Since then no one has challenged MSW Capital's ownership of the 

account, and no payments have been received thereon. 

Same was referred to collection on or about January 12, 

2012 in the said amount of $12,487.36. 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On January 27, 2012, Pressler and Pressler, LLP 

("Pressler") sent a letter to Petitioner consistent with 15 

U.S.C. §1692g advising of his right to dispute and obtain 

verification of the debt as per the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act. (DA-52a, DA-56a). The let ter was addressed to 

"Azeem H. Zaidi" and mailed to "21 Pueblo Ct., Morganville, NJ 

07751-2007". The January 27, 2012 letter states that MSW Capital 

had purchased Petitioner's Chase-Wamu Account number 

4185863460635816 (the "account") and that the amount due thereon 

is $12,487.36. [Note: The assets of Wamu were sold to Chase on 

September 28, 2008.] The United States Post Office did not 

return the January 27, 2012 letter as undeliverable or 

otherwise, nor did Petitioner respond thereto. 

MSW Capital's Complaint was filed on March 13, 2012 and was 

assigned docket number MON-DC-004774-12 by the Superior Court of 

New Jersey, Law Division, Monmouth County, Special Civil Part. 

(DA-1a) . Same sought to collect $12,487.36 plus costs and 

interest for a total of $12,556.31. 

Petitioner called Respondent's counsel on AprilS, 2012 to 

determine whether MSW Capital would accept less than the amount 

due. At no point during that conversation did Respondent deny 

that the subject account was his, or that the amount due thereon 

is $12,487.36, or that Respondent was its owner. (DA-52a) . 
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Petitioner filed a pro se Answer to the Complaint on or 

about April 16, 2012. (DA-3a). 

end-date was 90 days thereafter. 

Per court rules the discovery 

Petitioner did not serve any 

discovery. Respondent did serve Interrogatories and Requests to 

Admit on April 23, 2012. Petitioner's non-responsive answers to 

same were served on May 18, 2012. (DA-99a) . MSW Capital's 

Summary Judgment Motion was filed and served June 14, 2012. (DA-

21a) . On June 25, 2012 Philip D. Stern, Esq. formally entered 

the case as Peti tioner' s counsel by Substi tution of Attorney 

dated June 21, 2012. (DA:-58a). Said counsel filed opposition to 

Respondent's motion on June 25, 2012 consisting of Petitioner's 

June 21, 2012 certification and brief. (DA-45a) . On June 29, 

2012 Petitioner filed his [cross-]Motion for Summary Judgment to 

which Respondent filed its .combined reply and opposition. (DA-

46a), (DA-50a-DA-190a). 

(DA-191a) . 

Petitioner filed his brief in reply. 

On July 13, 2012 the Hon. James J. McGann, J.S.C. heard 

oral argument on the parties' respective motions, granting 

Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment from the Bench and by 

order dated July 23, 2012. (DA-4a) . On July 30, 2012, 

Respondent's judgment was docketed and was assigned docket 

number DJ-156235-12. On August 27, 2012, Peti tioner filed his 

Notice of Appeal as to the Summary Judgment Order and the Order 

denying his Summary Judgment Motion although Respondent's 
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Counsel is unaware that a written order or ruling to such effect 

was expressly made. 

II - The Evidential Record 

The account was originated by Washington Mutual, the assets 

of which were taken over after its failure by the FDIC and 

thereafter acquired by Chase Bank. It is therefore referenced 

as a "Chase-WaMu" account. Details of the failure and 

acquisition are spread out in the public documents attached to a 

Certification of Steven Lang, Esq., Respondent's counsel. (DA-

52a-DA~94a) . The acceptance thereof into the record by the 

trial court as affirmed is not being challenged. See Petition, 

pp. 4,5. Respondent established the debt by certification to 

which 18 monthly credit card statements were attached, including 

the periodic statement for the last billing cycle. (DA-l11a-DA-

187a) . Its ownership was established by first-party evidence of 

assignments first from Chase to Main Street (DA-189a) and then 

trom Main Street to MSW Capital. (DA-25a, DA-ll1a). 

Petitioner challenges the Respondent's proofs a) of the 

debt, b) the assignment from Chase to Main Street, and c) the 

assignment by Main Street to MSW Capi tal. It bears note that 

while the Opinion at p.23 identifies the R. 6:6-3(a) requirement 

that the "full chain of assignment" be established, this 

requirement was not in effect in July of 2012. Nonetheless, the 

Opinion holds that competent evidence of each link in the chain 
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was provided in the certification(s) and affidavit(s) submitted 

and the bills of sale (DA-115a, DA-117a) appended thereto by 

Respondent's managing director. Opinion, pp. 28-30. 

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion herein, the Opinion, at 

p.30 overruled his N.J.R.E. 106 objection that failure to attach 

the full blown credit card purchase agreements rendered the 

bills of sale inadmissible. It noted that the reference in 

Respondent's certification to the account as having been 

purchased under the said bill of sale was competent parol 

(Opinion, at p. 26) as authorized by long-standing precedent. 

Such evidence rule is discretionary, under which a court may 

require additional production if "fairness" warrants. 

Petitioner identifies neither unfairness 

relevant precedent. Opinion, p. 25. 

nor ci tation to 

The Respondent's certifications and its assignor's 

affidavit, based on personal knowledge, are competent and 

admissible. Same provide unrebutted evidence of Respondent's 

ownership of the defaulted account by transfer from Main Street 

who received the account directly from Chase. 

Among the 18 consecutive monthly statements attached to the 

Supplemental Certification of Lawrence Whipple was the periodic 

statement for the last billing cycle referred to by the motion 

judge as the "final billing statement". (DA-185a). Because 

these documents would have been prepared by the original 
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creditor, Chase, Peti tioner argues that same should not have 

been reviewed as they constitute hearsay. He is wrong for two 

reasons: 1) the 803 (c) (6) exception applied, and, 2) in the 

absence of a bona -fide dispute the motion court was free to 

review relevant evidence free of the exclusionary rules. 

III - The Issues 

Petitioner references several "traditional rules" set forth 

in the numbered paragraphs that follow which the Petitioner 

claims the Appellate Division ignored. 

1. (a) To have a valid assignment there must be clear 

evidence of a transfer, sufficient description of the assigned 

res, and (b) a clear and unequivocal expression ·of assignment. 

Petitioner cites Berkowitz v. Haigood, 256 N.J. Super. 342 

(Law Div. 1992) that the .res must be described sufficiently. 

In Berkowitz, summary judgment was entered in favor of a medical 

provider in an action against a personal injury attorney who 

failed to honor an assignment by the . client of the proceeds of 

the personal injury action. Despite recognizing that public 

policy forbids assigning claims for damages in tort for personal 

injuries, the court distinguished same from the proceeds of 

settlement of an action for such damages. Such case, however, 

is contrary to the public policy of the State as established by 

decision of the Court of Equi ty and Appeals. See Goldfarb v. 

Reicher, 112 N.J.L. 413, 414 (N.J.Sup.Court 1934), aff'd 113 
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N.J.L. 399 (E&A 1934) (attempted assignment of a right of action 

for personal injuries or the monies to become due was 

nugatory.); DiTolvo v. DiTolvo, 131 N.J. Super. 72, 79 (App. 

Div. 1974); Weller, et ale V. Jersey City, H&P St. R. Co., 68 

N.J.Eq. 659 (E&A 1905). See also, in part icular, In Re 

Columbraro, 230 B.R. 673, 676 (Bankr.D.N.J. 1999) (illegal 

object of such an assignment is discussed as violative of our 

public policy). See also In re Fontaine, 231 B.R. 1,5 

(Bankr.D.N.J. 1999) Berkowitz, supra, must be disregarded as 

contrary to public policy and an advisory opinion. 

As to the identification of the transferred res, both K. 

Woodmere Assocs., L.P. v. Menk Corp., 316 N.J. Super. 306 (App~ 

Div. 1998) and Sullivan v. Visconti, 68 N.J.L. 543, 551 (Sup. 

Ct. 1902) aff'd 69 N. J. L. 452 (E&A 1903) (also cited by 

Petitioner) make clear, as correctly noted in the Opinion at p. 

26, that the use of parol evidence is appropriate to identify 

the subject res having been assigned by the bill of sale and as 

duly described in MSW Capital's certification and attachments. 

2. A valid chain of title of an assignment does not require 

proof of each link. 

Contrary to Petitioner's claim, Stevens v. Bowers, 16 

N.J.L. 16 (N.J.Sup.Ct. 1837) does not stand for the proposition 

that "[a] valid chain of assignment must be established for each 

link ... If. Petition, p.20. Stevens concerns the enforceability of 
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one of two co-owner's assignment of his/her interest in a bond 

without the participation of the other one-half owner. The 

court in an opinion replete wi th the former rules of strict 

pleading determined as a matter of substantive law that the 

assignee could not proceed to enforce 100% of the obligation 

when he/she received a transfer from but one of the two 

bondholders. This is neither supportive of his position nor a 

"tradi tional rule". As noted supra, R. 6: 6-3 (a), as amended 

effective September 1, 2012, imposes a "full chain" requirement 

which was not in effect when the subject Summary Judgment was 

entered in this matter. 

3. LVNV Funding, LLC v. Colvell, 421 N.J. Super. 1 (App. 

Div. 2011) is binding authority. 

Respondent agrees that Col veIl is binding authori ty which 

establishes R. 6:6-3(a) (proofs on default) as a guide to 

determine the sufficiency of proofs in summary judgment motions 

in credit card cases. Notwithstanding the binding nature of 

Colvell, like the Appellate Division recognized in the Opinion 

(at p.41 n.13), the concerns raised therein regarding submission 

of a non-compliant computer-generated report as prima facie 

proof of a credit card claim are not at issue here. In this 

case, a competent periodic statement for the last billing cycle 

was submitted. 

4. Admissibility of business records are governed by 
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N.J.R.E. 803(c) (6). 

The Appellate Division did not eschew precedent but 

embraced it, taking the long-view that the admissibility of the 

18 monthly statements under the business records exception was 

"based on principles of necessity and trustworthiness". 

Opinion, p. 34, line 19. The credit card statements included 

the periodic statement for the last billing cycle which as part 

of a highly regulated endeavor logically infers the correctness 

of the amount claimed and constitutes "sufficient indicia of 

trustworthiness and reliability normally found in business 

records ... ". Opinion, pp. 39-41. 

While not conceding the Petitioner's allegations in the 

instant matter, N. J. R. E. 101 (a) (4) allowed the motion court to 

review any relevant evidence without regard to its possible 

exclusion as hearsay. This argument was, however, not discussed 

in the Opinion, see p. 46. In the absence of a bona-fide dispute 

of fact the motion court. was free to regard relevant evidence 

without regard to any exclusionary rule. 

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Requisite Foundation for the Admissibility of Third Party 

Writings under N.J.R.E. 803(c) (6). 

Petitioner's question ignores the procedural context of the 

proceedings. This was a motion for summary judgment. It 

further ignores the Colvell standard, i.e. the logical inference 
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of the correctness of the amount claimed as due as shown by the 

periodic statement for the last billing cycle. Finally, it 

ignores the Petitioner's failure to raise a genuine issue of 

material fact, his lack of meaningful discovery, and the absence 

of a bona-fide dispute. 

N . J . R . E . 8 03 (c) (6) is bu tone r u I e by w hi ch a co u r t rna y 

override a hearsay objection under the circumstances here 

presented. See also N.J.R.E. 101(a) (4), which states: 

(4) Undisputed facts. - If there is no bona fide 
dispute between the parties as to a relevant 
fact, the judge may permit that fact to be 
established by stipulation or binding admission. 
In civil proceedings the judge may also permi t 
tbat fact to be proved by any relevant evidence, 
and exclusionary rules shall not apply, except 
Rule 403 or a valid claim of privilege. 

(underlining added for emphasis) 

2. Requisite Foundation for the Production of Materials to 

Supplement Allegedly Incomplete Documents. 

Petitioner's question ignores that N.J.R.E. 106 is a 

discretionary rule, the implementation of which requires an 

assessment of "fairness". In the absence of a showing of 

unfairness the rule is inapplicable. To make a foundation of 

unfairness requires at least a suggestion of same . Petitioner 

points to no unfairness. 

3. Whether all Documents involved in an Assignment must be 

Produced where the Written Expression of Intent to Assign 

under a Bill of Sale is Produced. 
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This question is subsumed in the Petitioner's question vis-

a-vis N.J.R.E. 106 immediately above. It is to be noted that 

the relevant attachment, the Bill of Sale, was produced and the 

particulars of the account were reci ted. This information was 

received by Respondent at the time of its acquisition of 

Petitioner's defaulted account. The intent to assign is clear 

and unequivocal by the Bill of Sale without further production. 

4. The Identification of Assigned Rights may be by Parol. 

As noted throughout, Petitioner's question ignores 

precedent that the identification of the transferred res may be 

by parol. See Sullivan, supra. See also K. Woodmere, supra. 

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF 

1. Third Party Writings: As noted, N.J.R.E. 101 (a) (4) 

specifically allows a court to review relevant evidence where no 

bona-fide dispute exists. Further, R. 6:6-3(a) was adopted 

based on the 1992 Report of this Court's Committee on Special 

Civil Part Practice on the logical inference of correctness of a 

periodic statement for the last billing cycle. Here, 18 monthly 

statements including the periodic statement for the last billing 

cycle were submi tted without retort from Peti tioner. Finally, 

N.J.R.E. 803(c) (6) is modeled after F.R.E. 803(6). The ruling 

advanced in the Opinion is that the monthly statements 

" ... 'appear [] perfectly regular on [their] face and as having been 

issued in the regular course of business prior to the inception 
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of any controversy between the parties.'" [citation omitted] 

Opinion, pp. 37-38. Said ruling runs not against but coincident 

wi th opinions in the 1 st Cir, 2nd Cir, 5 th Cir, 8 th Cir, 9th Cir, 

loth Cir, the D.C. Cir, the Federal Cir, and the u.s. Court of 

Federal Claims. 1 See infra p. 16 for a listing of cases. 

Therefrom emerge a two-factor standard, i.e. that 1) the 

incorporated wri tings were relied upon and, 2) the presence of 

other circumstances indicating trustworthiness. Such was the 

standard correctly applied herein. 

2. Incomplete Documents: See discussion supra, pp. 13-14. 

3. Written Expression of Intent to Assign: See discussion supra, 

pp. 9-10. There is no requirement for a writing. 

4. Identification of Assigned Right: See discussion supra, pp. 

9-10. Same may be described by parol. 

REASONS WHY CERTIFICATION SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED 

The instant matter does not present an issue of general 

public importance. Contrary to Petitioner's contention, the 

Appellate Division espoused no new rules. Because the Appellate 

Panel has ruled in an other-than-narrow reading of N.J.R.E. 

803(c) (6), Petitioner takes untoward liberties to belittle same 

as fantastical, without direction, or lost in space. Such is 

offensive and inappropriate. 

As noted, the Opinion is in line with the following Federal 

I Counsel is unaware of any contrary 3rd Circui t opinion. 
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Circuit opinions: 2 

1. United States v. Doe, 960 F.2d 221,223 (1st Cir. 1992) --
United States v. Savarese, 686 F.3d 1,10 (1st Cir. 2012) 

2. United States v. Jakobetz, 955 F.2d 786,800-801 2d Cir. 1992) 

3. United States v. Duncan, 919 F.2d 981,986-987 (5 th Cir. 1990) 

4. Brawner v. Allstate Indemn. Co., 591 F.3d 984,987-988 
(8 th Cir. 2010) 

5. United States. v. Childs, 5 F.3d 1328 (9th Cir. 1993) 

6. United States v. Carranco, 551 F.2d 1197, 1200 (10 th Cir. 
1977) 

7. United States v. Adefehinti, 510 F.3d 319, 326 (D.C.Cir. 
2007) 

8. Air Land Forwarders, Inc. v. United States, 172 F.3d 
1338,1342-1343(Fed.Cir. 1999) 

9. Columbia First Bank, F.S.B. v. U.S., 58 Fed. Cl. 333,338-339 
(Fed.Cl. 2003) 

Our rules are modeled after the Federal Rules of Evidence. 

The Opinion reflects the overarching goal to allow the admission 

of any probative, trustworthy evidence. It is to be noted that 

since the Opinion was released, another Appellate Division panel 

of different Judges released a like unpublished opinion, Main 

Street Acguisition Corp. v. Nemeth, 2014 N.J. Super. Unpub. 

2Although Petitioner points to several foreign decisions on pp. 
11-15 of his Petition, Respondent is constrained to note the 
following contrary authority: Krawczyk v. Centurion Capital 
Corp., 2009 U. S. Dist. LEXIS 12204 (N. D. Ill. 2009) (attached) ; 
TEM Capital, LLC v. Leonard, 2013 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 1049 
(Minn. Ct. App. 2013) (attached); Simien v. Unifund CCR Partners, 
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LEXIS 749, A-1608-12T4 (App. Div. 2014) (attached). In Nemeth 

the credit card statement(s) and account information was 

trustworthy on its face and relied upon by plaintiff. Same were 

therefore duly incorporated into said plaintiff's records. 

Two other factors square the instant Opinion and the Nemeth 

opinion, namely, that the evidence presented was the periodic 

statement for the last billing cycle, a significant polestar in 

both the defaul t and the summary judgment contexts. Against 

same, neither Zaidi nor Nemeth the offered factual challenge or 

genuine issue of material fact. What possible error can 

Peti tioner describe where he a) declined to provide meaningful 

discovery, and b) offered no factual dispute to Respondent's 

motion? With this Petitioner's tactical lack of participation, 

no question of general public importance is presented. 

COMMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE 
APPELLATE DIVISION OPINION 

There are several erroneous statements of either law or 

fact which Petitioner has utilized to inappropriately color his 

arguments: First: at Petition, p.2, he states that "[e]ven the 

original creditor suing on its own debt bears a heavier 

evidentiary burden." This wild allegation could only be 

submitted to present an untrue picture that the Opinion is 

topsy-turvy. 

321 S.W.3d 235 (Tex.App. 2010); Dodeka, L.L.C. v. Campos, 377 
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Second: at Petition, p.IO, it is erroneously stated that 

Respondent's assignor disclaimed any representation as to the 

accuracy. The record is devoid of such disclaimer. However, 

the Opinion specifically ruled that if such disclaimer existed, 

"standing alone, [it is] simply not enough to raise serious 

doubt about the dependability of account statements that appear 

regular on their face." Opinion, p.43 (citations omitted). See 

also Opinion, p.17. 

Third: at Petition, p.11, Petitioner states that the 

Opinion conflicts with published decisions of this Court. To 

the contrary, it has long been recognized that unlike criminal 

matters wherein the confrontation clause is implicated, civil 

litigation of business matters is not to be so narrowly 

construed. See State v. Simbara, 175 N.J. 37, 47-49 (2002). 

See also Mahoney v. Minsky, 39 N.J. 208, 217-218 (1963) wherein 

this Court stated: 

It took a long time for the courts to recognize 
that business conditions and methods demanded 
relaxation of the strict rules of evidence which 
banned a merchant's books from lawsuits as self
serving hearsay. Adoption of the shopbook rule 
stemmed from a realization that mercantile and 
industrial life is essentially practical, that 
what is the final basis of calculation, reliance, 
investment, and general confidence in every 
business enterprise may ordinarily be resorted to 
in proof of the main fact, and that what the 
common experience of man relies upon ought not to 
be summarily discredited. 

S.W.3d 726 (Tex. App. 2012). 
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Not only is the fundamental difference between criminal and 

civil matters of relevance to hearsay and its exclusions, but 

same expressly informs N. J. R. E. 101 (a) (4) . There is nothing 

untoward in compelling a civil defendant to come forward with 

contrary proofs should any exist. Here whether it was his 

responses to discovery or to Respondent's Summary Judgment 

application, Petitioner offered nothing. 

The subject Opinion and the Appellate Division opinion that 

followed, Main Street Acquisition Corp. v. Nemeth, supra, are 

neither in conflict one with the other nor in conflict with the 

Appellate Division opinion in LVNV Funding, LLC v. Colvell, 

supra. Colvell established ~. 6:6-3{a) as a guide to the proofs 

necessary in a credit card collection case. 

Measured thereagainst, LVNV's proofs in Col veIl, the form 

of a computer generated statement were insufficient. In Zaidi 

and Nemeth, however, the proofs as submitted in the form of a 

periodic statement for the last billing cycle were. In neither 

case did the Appellate Division create an automatic winner but 

merely held that the proofs as presented were competent, though 

rebuttable. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent, MSW Capital LLC, 

respectfully requests that this Court deny Petitioner, Azeem 

Zaidi's, Petition seeking Certification of the issues disposed 

19 



in the Opinion of the Appellate Division, A-6370-11T1, as to 

him. 

Dated: April 22, 2014 

Respectfully submitted, 
Pressler and Pressler, LLP 
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1. Main Street Acquisition Corp. v. Nemeth, 2014 N.J. Super. 
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2. TEM Capital, LLC v. Leonard, 2013 Minn. App. Unpub. 
LEXIS 1049 (Minn. Ct. App. 2013)------------------------- 6a 

3. Krawczyk v. Centurion Capital Corp., 2009 U.S. Dist. 
1. LEXIS 12204 (N.D. Ill. 2009)---------------------------12a 
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OPINION 

PER CURI AM 

Defendant Robert L. Nemeth appeals from the 
August 29, 201 2 order granting slImmary judgment to 
pla intiff Main Street Acquisition Corp., a debt buyer, 
seeking to collect a 5773 I .68 ba lance defendant 
purportedly owed on a closed and charged-off 
ChasefWashingtoll Mutual (WaMu) credit card account. 
He also appea ls thc October 26, 201 2 order denyi ng hi s 
motion for reconsideration. After reviewi ng the record in 
li ght of the contro ll ing legal principles, we a ffirm . 

We glean the fo ll owing facts from the record 
provided. Plaintiff and Chase Bank USA, N.A. t executed 
a bill of sale with a closing date of June 29, 201 I, 
whereby plaintiff purchased 8842 delinquent debts, 
including one purported to belong to defendant. The 
account belonging to defendant was identified by: 
defendant'S name; the account number; defendant's 
address; defendant's home and work phone numbers; 
defendant's social security number; the payment history, 
including the date of first delinquency and [*2] date of 
last pnyment; and the outstanding balance of £773 1.68. 
The Chase periodic credit card statements con finned that 
defendant began fa iling to make the minimum payments 
in August 2009. Chase closed the account on December 
3,2010. 

Defendant's account was originally with 
WaMu. Chase acqui red 111051 of \VaMu's assets 
fro m the FDIC after WaMU's financial collapse in 
2008. See Puig v. Cilibank. N.A .. 514 Fed. App'x 
483. 484 (51h Cir. 2013). The seventeen credi t 
card statements in the record from July 2009 
through December 20 I 0 clearly state they arc 
from Chase and payment was to be made to Chase 
card services. 

The transfer of defendant's debt from Chase was 
affi rmed by Jason S. Williams, the vice-president and 
custodian of business records for plaintiff. In a 
certi fi cation, Will iams attested that the trans fer and 
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assignment of defendant's debt to plaintiff by Chase "was 
a valid and lawful business transaction that transferred 
ownership of [defendant's] [a]ccount to [plaintiff.] " 
Williams also averred that the transfer and assignment of 
defendant's account to plaintiff "occurred pursuant to a 
routine, industry standard business transaction." 

Williams based this statement on his review of [*3] 
plaintiffs business records along with his expertise in the 
industry practices. Williams asserted that he had 
negotiated, reviewed, and verified all of the ChaseIWaMu 
records. Williams stated that the ChaseIWaMu records 
were "acquired in the ordinary course of business by 
transfer and assignment pursuant to the Agreement" and 
"were kept in the regular course ofbusiness[.]" 

On January 24, 2012, plaintiff sent defendant a debt 
collection letter informing defendant that it had acquired 
defendant's debt on his ChaseIWaMu account and 
seeking payment. On February 17, 2012, defendant sent 
plaintiff a letter disputing the claim. Plaintiff sent 
defendant a debt verification letter on April 27, 2012. 

On May 10,2012, plaintiff filed a complaint against 
defendant alleging that it purchased a monetary 
obligation defendant owed on the ChaseIWaMu account 
in the amount of $7731.68 and sought judgment in the 
amount owed plus interest. On June 6, 2012, defendant 
filed his answer denying the allegations in the complaint 
and setting forth numerous affirmative defenses. 

Plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment on 
July 18, 2012. The trial judge granted the motion on 
August 29, 2012, and awarded plaintiff [*4] $7731.68 
plus $170.31 interest. 

The trial judge found that the summary judgment 
motion was "meritorious" and "supported by verified 
business records," which established that "the credit card 
agreement was used by defendant, confirming the card 
agreement, and the proofs [were] in accord with R. 
6:6-3(a), while defendant's objections [did] not set forth 
facts in accord with the [summary judgment] standard." 
The judge concluded that "the motion [was] granted for 
the reasons set forth in the moving papers" pursuant to 
Rule 1:6-2.2 

2 We note that the record here appears to be 
incomplete. In an appeal from summary 
judgment, the appendix must include "a statement 
of all items submitted to the court on the summary 

judgment motion and all such items shall be 
included in the appendix" except, generally, the 
briefs. R. 2:6-1(a)(1). No such list was included. 
While defendant submitted "Additional Parts of 
the Record," including some of plaintiffs exhibits, 
it is not possible to ascertain if all the 
documentary evidence submitted to the court is 
included. In addition, where, as here, the judge's 
order was based "on the reasons set forth in the 
moving papers," all the moving papers should 
have been [*5] included. R. 2:6-1 (a) (1) (1) (noting 
that appellant's appendix shall contain "such other 
parts of the record, . . . as are essential to the 
proper consideration of the issues"). The failure to 
include a complete record of items often impedes 
appellate review. See Johnson v. Schragger, 
Lavine, Nagy & Krasny, 340 N.J. Super. 84, 87 
n.3, 773 A.2d 1164 (App. Div. 2001). In any 
event, we have no reason to believe that a fuller 
appendix would alter our legal analysis, which 
clearly shows why defendant's arguments lack 
merit. 

Defendant filed a motion for reconsideration and to 
. vac~te summary ·judgment on September 18, 2012. After 

hearing oral argument, the trial judge denied defendant's 
motion on October 26,2012. This appeal followed. 

On appeal, defendant argues that plaintiff lacked 
standing to bring this suit because it cannot establish a 
valid chain of assignment and thus cannot prove 
ownership of the alleged debt. In addition, defendant 
contends that the documents plaintiff presented as proof 
of assignment of defendant's debt constituted hearsay, 
lacked a competent witness to authenticate them, were 
not originals, and their source indicated a lack of 
trustworthiness.3 Thus, defendant contends the 
documents [*6] should have been excluded. We 
disagree. 

3 Notably, in defendant's appeal papers, he does 
not argue that he does not owe the debt. 

In an appeal from the grant of summary judgment, 
we utilize "'the same standard [of review] that governs 
the trial court.'" Mem'l Props., LLC v. Zurich Am. Ins. 
Co., 210 N.J. 512, 524, 46 A.3d 525 (2012) (alteration in 
original) (quoting Henry v. N.J. Dep't of Human Servs., 
204 N.J. 320, 330, 9 A.3d 882 (2010)). Thus the evidence 
must be viewed "in the light most favorable to the 
non-moving party" and must be analyzed to determine 
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"whether the moving party was entitled to judgment as a 
matter of law." Ibid. (citing Brill v. Guardian Life Ins. 
Co. of Am., 142 N.J. 520, 523, 666 A.2d 146 (1995)). 

A plaintiff suing on an assigned, charged-off credit 
card debt must prove both ownership of the defendant's 
debt and the amount due to the card issuer when it closed 
defendant's account. Thus, plaintiff must prove it owned 
defendant's credit card debt, whether one characterizes 
this as standing to sue or an essential element of proof on 
an assigned claim. See Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Ford, 
418 N.J. Super. 592, 599-600, 15 A.3d 327 (App. Div. 
2011); Triffin v. Somerset Valley Bank, 343 N.J. Super. 
73, 79-82, 777 A.2d 993 (App. Div. 2001). 

"[A]ny [*7] beneficial contract may be assigned, 
and courts of law will protect the rights of the assignee 
suing in the name of the assignor." Somerset Orthopedic 
Assocs. v. Horizon Blue Cross & Blue Shield of N.J., 345 
N.J. Super. 410, 415, 785 A.2d 457 (App. Div. 2001). 
Indeed, the assigned credit card debt on which plaintiff 
sued constitutes a chose in action arising on a contract, 
which is specifically assignable pursuant to N.J.S.A. 
2A:25-1. In order for such assignment to be valid; it 
nmust contain clear evidence of the intent to transfer the 
person's rights and 'the subject matter of the assignment 
must be described sufficiently to make it capable of being 
readily identified."' Berkowitz v. Haigood, 256 N.J. 
Super. 342, 346, 606 A.2d 1157 (Law Div. 1992) 
(citations omitted). Moreover, "[0 ]nce properly notified 
of the assignment, the obligor is charged with the duty to 
pay the assignee and not the assignor." Ibid. 

We are satisfied that the documents show that 
plaintiff has a valid assignment of debt from Chase. The 
bill of sale is clear evidence of Chase's intent to transfer 
the debts to plaintiff; defendant's accounts are sufficiently 
described in the spreadsheet appended to the bill of sale 
as well as the purchase [*8] file layout; and defendant 
was notified of the assignment via letter. Hence, if the 
documents were properly admitted in evidence, plaintiff 
had standing in this case. See Triffin, supra, 343 N.J. 
Super. at 81. 

The central question presented regarding the 
assignment is whether plaintiff submitted competent 
evidence demonstrating "the full chain of the assignment 
of the claim[.]" R. 6:6-3(a); see also LVNV Funding, 
L.L.e. v. Colvell, 421 N.J. Super. 1, 6, 22 A.3d 125 (App. 
Div. 20ll) (stating Rule 6:6-3(a) provides a guide to the 
proofs necessary for summary judgment in credit card 

collection cases). We reviewed the requirements for 
affidavits purporting to establish a party's ownership of 
an assigned debt in Ford, supra, 418 N.J. Super. at 
597-98. An affiant must aver that the facts presented are 
on personal knowledge, identify the source of such 
knowledge, and must properly authenticate any certified 
copies of documents referred to therein and attached to 
the affidavit or certification. Id at 599-600. Here, 
Williams identified his position with plaintiff, stated that 
he personally participated in the acquisition of 
defendant's debt from Chase, and certified that the 
attached assignments were true [*9] copies of the ones 
provided to plaintiff by its assignor Chase. Nothing 
further was required to authenticate them under N.J.R.E. 
901. See Celino v. Gen. Accident Ins., 211 N.J. Super. 
538, 544, 512 A.2d 496 (App. Div. 1986). 

As to the assignment of defendant's debt from WaMu 
to Chase, there is no explicit evidence in the record on 
appeal of this asset transfer.4 However, many state and 
federal courts have deemed the fact that the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) took over WaMu 
and subsequently sold all of its assets to Chase a proper 
subject of judicial notice under N.J.R.E. 201 (a) or (b). 
See, e.g., Carswell v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 500 
Fed. App'x 580, 583 (9th Cir. 2012); Arguenta v. J.P. 
Morgan Chase, 787 F. Supp. 2d 1099, 1101-04 (E.D. 
Cal. 2011); Stewart v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 473 
B.R. 612, 618 n.2 (Bankr. WD. Pa. 2012), afJ'd, No. 
12-1243, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 111516 (W.D. Pa. Aug. 
8, 2013); Shirk v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 437 B.R. 
592, 596 & n.l (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 2010); Scott v. 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 214 Cal. App. 4th 743,154 
Cal. Rptr. 3d 394, 401-09 (Ct. App. 2013), modified, No. 
A132741, 2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 290 (Ct. App. Apr. 16, 
2013), rev. denied, No. S210315, 2013 Cal. LEXIS 4861 
(June 12, 2013). 

4 Without [* 10] a complete listing of 
documents plaintiff submitted in support of 
summary judgment and the documents 
themselves, we cannot know what evidence, if 
any, was presented on this point. 

More to the point, while defendant's account 
originated with WaMu, the seventeen periodic Chase 
credit card account statements sent to defendant itemized 
numerous monthly credit card transactions between 
defendant and Chase after Chase acquired the WaMu 
account. The Chase account statements establish a direct 
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contractual relationship between plaintiff and Chase. See 
Garden Slale Bank v. Graef, 341 N.J. Super. 241, 246, 
775 A.2d 189 (App. Div. 2001) (accepting records of 
successor bank as prima facie evidence of outstanding 
loan where account holder continued making payments to 
successor bank); Novack v. Cities Servo Oil Co., 149 N.J. 
Super. 542, 548, 374 A.2d 89 (Law Div. 1977) (noting 
use of credit card constitutes acceptance of offer of 
credit), affd o.h., 159 N.J. Super. 400, 388 A.2d 264 
(App. Div.), cerlif. denied, 78 N.J. 396, 396 A.2d 583 
(1978). Accordingly, if those statements are properly 
admissible, no further proof of Chase's assumption of 
defendant's account was necessary. 

As we have concluded that these documents were 
properly authenticated by Williams [* 11] and properly 
demonstrated the assignment of defendant's debt to 
plaintiff, we now tum to the nature of the documents 
themselves and whether they constituted inadmissible 
hearsay .. The business records hearsay exception 
provides: 

. A statement contained in a writing or 
other record of acts, events, conditions, 
and, subject to Rule 808, opinions or 
diagnoses, made at or near the time of 
observation by a person with actual 
knowledge or from information supplied 
by such a person, if the writing or other 
record was made in the regular course of 
business and it was the regular practice of 
that business to make it, unless the sources 
of information or the method, purpose or 
circumstances of preparation indicate that 
it is not trustworthy. 

[N.J.R.E. 803(c)(6).] 

Records such as bank statements, cancelled checks, and 
books of account generally fall under the business record 
exception. Biunno, Weissbard & Zegas, Current N.J. 
Rules of Evidence, comment 2 on N.J.R.E. 803 (c) (6) 
(2013). To qualify under this exception, three conditions 
must be satisfied by the proponent: 

"First, the writing must be made in the 
regular course of business. Second, it must 
be prepared within a short time of the act, 
condition [* 12] or event being described. 
Finally, the source of the information and 
the method and circumstances of the 

preparation of the wntmg must justify 
allowing it into evidence." 

[Slale V. Sweel, 195 N.J. 357, 370, 
949 A.2d 809 (2008) (quoting Stale v. 
Malulewicz, 101 N.J. 27, 29, 499 A.2d 
1363 (J 985)), cerl. denied, 557 U.S. 934, 
129 S. CI. 2858, 174 L. Ed 2d 601 
(2009).] 

The foundation witness need not "have personal 
knowledge of the facts contained in the record. " 
Hahnemann Univ. Hosp. V. Dudnick, 292 N.J. Super. 11, 
17-18, 678 A.2d 266 (App. Div. 1996). Indeed, 
"documents may properly be admitted 'as business 
records even though they are the records of a business 
entity other than one of the parties, and even though the 
foundation for their receipt is laid by a witness who is not 
an employee of the entity that owns and prepared them.'" 
Id al 17 (citation omitted). It follows that "the foundation 
for systematically prepared computer records" may be 
competently laid "if the witness (1) can demonstrate that 
the computer record is what the proponent claims and (2) 
is sufficiently familiar with the record system used and 
(3) can establish that it was the regular practice of that 
business to make the record." Id. a118. 

In this case, [*13] the bill of sale and corresponding 
documents all clearly fall within the business records 
exception as examples of business records transferred on 
sale and incorporated in the purchaser's records to 
document proof of ownership of the thing transferred. 
See, e.g., Slale V. Mazowski, 337 N.J. Super. 275, 291-92, 
766 A.2d 1176 (App. Div. 2001) (pawnshop receipts); 
Stott v. Greengos, 95 N.J. Super. 96, 99-100, 230 A.2d 
154 (App. Div. 1967) (stock sale confirmation sheets). 
Here, Williams had personal knowledge of these 
documents and certified that they were kept in the 
ordinary course of plaintiff's business, thus satisfying the 
evidentiary requirements. Hence, the documents are 
admissible as business records under N.J.R.E. 803(c)(6). 

We next tum to the amount of defendant's debt, 
which plaintiff also had to demonstrate using admissible 
evidence. We are convinced that defendant's statements 
from Chase, as well as the credit card terms, also qualify 
as business records as certified by Williams. Williams 
explicitly detailed the "due diligence" he undertook in 
learning the internal procedures for ChaselWaMu's 
record management and certi fied that they were kept in 
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the regular course of business. These account statements 
[* 14] are the types of documents our courts have long 
accepted as business records excepted from the hearsay 
rule under N.J.R.E. 803 (c) (6). See Graef, supra, 341 N.J. 
Super. at 244-45; Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Merla, 142 
N.J. Super. 205, 207-08, 361 A.2d 68 (App. Div. 1976). 

Even more important in the context of this action, 
Rule 6:6-3(a) provides that "if plaintifrs records are 
maintained electronically and the claim is founded on an 
open-end credit plan," as defined in 15 U.S.C.A. § 
1602(i), the Truth in Lending Act, and 12 C.P.R. § 
226.2(a)(20) (2013), Regulation Z, as this claim is, "a 
copy of the periodic statement for the last billing cycle, as 
prescribed by 15 U.S.C.A. § 1637(b) and 12 C.F.R. § 
226.7 ... if attached to the affidavit, shall be sufficient to 
support the entry of judgment. liS Such was the case here. 
Not only was a copy of the last periodic statement 
attached to Williams' affidavit, but the statements for July 
2009 through December 2010 were included. 

5 As the account statements were before the trial 
court, the concerns we raised in Colvell, supra, 
where such statements were not admitted, are not 
present here. 421 N.J. Super. at 6-8. 

In addition, the Chase records were admissible as 
they [*15] "'appear[] perfectly regular on [their] face and 
as having been issued in the regular course of business 
prior to the inception of any controversy between the 
parties.'" Graef, supra, 341 N.J. Super. at 246 (alterations 
in original) (quoting Mahoney v. Minsky, 39 N.J. 208, 
213, 188 A.2d 161 (1963)); see also Carmona v. Resorts 
Int'l Hotel, Inc., 189 N.J. 354, 380, 915 A.2d 518 (2007) 
(holding that no reason existed to find computerized 
business records untrustworthy unless the opposing party 
presented evidence to question their reliability). 

Accordingly, we conclude that the bill of sale and 

corresponding documents, as well as the Chase account 
statements, submitted by plaintiff were admissible as 
business records and properly authenticated by Williams. 
These documents taken together provided prima facie 
proof of plaintifrs ownership of defendant's debt and the 
amount of the debt due. See New Century Fin. Servs., Inc. 
v. Dennegar, 394 N.J. Super. 595, 599, 928 A.2d 48 (App. 
Div. 2007) (concluding trial judge acted within discretion 
in admitting monthly credit card statements on assigned 
claims). 

The admission of the chain of assignment and 
account statements did not assure the entry of summary 
judgment. They provided only [* 16] prima facie proof 
that plaintiff is the owner by assignment of defendant's 
ChaselWaMu charged-off credit card on which $7731.68 
is due. See Mangual v. Berezinsky' 428 N.J. Super. 299, 
312-13, 53 A.3d 664 (App. Div. 2012) (where party 
demonstrated prima facie right to summary judgment, 
opposition could defeat motion with evidence of genuine 
issue of material fact). But, in order to stave off summary 
judgment, defendant had to come forward with evidence 
sufficient to create a genuine issue as to those material 
facts on which plaintiffs prima facie claim was based. 
Brill, supra, 142 N.J. at 529. 

Defendant failed to come forward with any evidence 
raising a genuine dispute as to either the assignment or 
the account statements. Specifically, defendant does not 
deny owing the debt. Accordingly, we affirm the trial 
judge's entry of summary judgment in favor of plaintiff. 

Defendant's remaining arguments are without 
sufficient merit to warrant discussion in a written 
opinion. R. 2:11-3(e)(1)(E). 

Affirmed. 
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OPINION BY: STONEBURNER 

OPINION 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

STONEBURNER, Judge 

In these consolidated appeals, appellant challenges the grant of summary judgment in separate 
actions awarding amounts owed on appellant's two credit-card accounts that were assigned 
separately to respondent debt-collecting businesses. Appellant argues that (1) the assignment of 
his credit-card debts to respondents for a fraction of the amount he owes is unconscionable and 
unenforceable; (2) the evidence offered by respondents to prove the assignments is insufficient; 

R/}-hv.--
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and (3) collateral estoppel bars separate actions to collect the debts. Because (1) the 
assignments are not unconscionable; (2) the district court did [*2] not abuse its discretion by 
concluding that the foundation for evidence of the assignments is adequate and the evidence is 
sufficient to prove the assignments; and (3) the doctrine of collateral estoppel does not apply to 
respondents' separate actions to collect separate debts, we affirm. 

FACTS 

In 1985, appellant Rodney E. Leonard opened a credit-card account (the TEM account) with 
Chase Bank USA, N.A. (Chase). In 1986, appellant opened a second Chase credit-card account 
(the Livingston account). Leonard charged purchases to and made payments on the accounts 
until he defaulted on both accounts in 2008. After accelerating the balance due and charging off 
the accounts, Chase sold the accounts on the secondary market. 

Chase sold the TEM account to HS Financial Group, LLC, which sold it to Mattia and Associates, 
Inc., which then sold it to respondent TEM Capital, LLC (TEM). Chase sold the Livingston account 
to Turtle Creek Assets, Ltd., which then sold it to respondent Livingston Financial, LLC 
(Livingston). Leonard does not dispute that he received invoices and statements for both 
accounts from Chase while Chase owned the accounts and from TEM and Livingston, 
respectively, after the accounts [*3] were assigned. Leonard never objected to the statements 
and, at oral argument on appeal, stated that he does not dispute the amount owed on each 
account. 

In separate actions, TEM and Livingston sued Leonard, seeking judgment for the amounts owed 
by Leonard as well as interest, costs, and disbursements. TEM and Livingston moved for 
summary judgment in the respective actions. 

TEM. supported its motion with the affidavit of a "member" who attested that he is an authorized 
agent of TEM, is familiar with and has full access to TEM's business records,.and has knowledge 
of TEM's business-records retention practices. The affiant, in relevant part, referenced attached 
statements of account that Chase sent to Leonard from March 2008 through August 2009 and a 
bill of sale for each transfer of the TEM account from Chase to HS Financial Group, LLC, then to 
Mattia and Associates, Inc., and finally to TEM. The affiant attested to Leonard's failure to assert 
any disputes concerning charges on regular statements that were sent to him and asserted the 
current amount owed, including interest under the terms of the credit-card agreement. 

Leonard opposed TEM's summary-judgment motion. Leonard challenged the [*4] basis of TEM's 
affiant's knowledge about TEM's business practices and ability to provide a foundation for the 
documents from Chase and the other assignors. Leonard also asserted that liTEM is engaged in 
unconscionable and illegal conduct," essentially attacking all debt-collection businesses. 

TEM responded, attaching an additional affidavit of its original affiant, attesting to the fact that 
(1) he is nan owner and managing member" of TEM; (2) TEM "integrates into its own records the 
records of the original credit issuers and assignors of its credit accounts in the ordinary course of 
business operations" and relies upon the accuracy of those documents; and (3) the documents 
in this action "were acquired as part of the purchase of [Leonard's] account and at all times have 
been maintained in the ordinary course of business." 

The district court granted TEM's motion for summary judgment, concluding that TEM's affiant 
was qualified and competent to lay foundation for the records submitted; TEM had shown 
sufficient evidence of ownership of the TEM account; and TEM established the amount owed 
under the doctrine of account stated. The district court rejected Leonard's argument that 
assignment [*5] of the debt to TEM was unconscionable, noting that, because Leonard was not 
a party to the assignment, he lacks standing to challenge the terms of the assignment and that 
Leonard had not alleged or established that his contract with Chase, which contained an 
assignment clause, was unconscionable. 

Livingston's summary-judgment motion was supported with the affidavit of the custodian of 

,f4-7(A/ 
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Livingston's business records who attested that (1) during the transfer of accounts between 
Chase and Livingston, Chase regularly transmits electronic account information at the time an 
account is assigned; (2) Chase transmitted electronic account information for Leonard's account 
at the time it was assigned; and (3) Livingston also obtained from Chase the terms and 
conditions and account statements for Leonard. The affiant described Leonard's account and 
account balance and the transfers of Leonard's account from Chase to Turtle Creek Assets, Ltd to 
Livingston. Livingston attached copies of the documents referenced in the affidavit as exhibits to 
the affidavit. Livingston also supported its motion with copies of discovery responses from 
Leonard. 

Leonard responded, opposing Livingston's motion and relying [*6] on a Missouri case and a 
Minnesota district court case to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of assignment as 
without foundation and incomplete. CACH, LLC v. Askew, 358 S.W.3d 58 (Mo. 2012); Arrow Fin. 
Servs. LLC v. Chick, No. 85-CV-09-1036 (Minn. Dist. Ct. Aug. 3, 2009). [Opinion not available on 
Westlaw.] Leonard also argued that the assignment was unconscionable and illegal and that 
Livingston was collaterally estopped from commencing an action against Leonard because of 
TEM's lawsuit. Leonard submitted his affidavit asserting that, because he had paid interest and 
fees to Chase, "Chase has received sums adequate to compensate it" for risk of default. Leonard 
also attached news articles critical of credit-card-debt-collection practices. 

Livingston replied, arguing, in relevant part, that Minnesota law is contrary to the Missouri case 
cited by Leonard and that the facts of this case differ from the facts in the district court case 
relied on by Leonard. The district court granted summary judgment to Livingston, concluding 
that Livingston suffiCiently established its ownership of Leonard's account and rejecting 
Leonard's unconscionable-conduct and collateral-estoppel arguments. 

This [*7] court consolidated Leonard's appeals of these judgments. 

DECISION 

On appeal from summary judgment, this court's task "is to determine whether genuine issues of 
material fact exist, and whether the district court correctly applied the law." Eng'g. & Const. 
Innovations, Inc. v. L.H. Bolduc Co., 825 N.W.2d 695, 704 (Minn. 2013) (quotation omitted). 
The district court properly grants summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to 
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits ... show that there is no 
genuine issue as to any material fact and that either party is entitled to a judgment as a matter 
of law." Minn. R. Civ. P. 56.03. We conduct a de novo review of the district court's summary 
judgment decision. McKee v. Laurion, 825 N.W.2d 725, 729 (Minn. 2013). We "view the 
evidence in the light most favorable to the party against whom summary judgment was 
granted. II Id. 

On appeal, Leonard argues that (1) assignments of his Chase credit-card debts are 
unconscionable and unenforceable; (2) his contracts with Chase were contracts of adhesion 
because his inferior bargaining position allowed Chase to unilaterally dictate the assignment 
terms in the contracts; [*8] (3) due process requires that he receive notice of any assignment 
of credit-card debt and that he be afforded the opportunity to purchase the debt on the same 
terms that the creditor offered an assignee; and (4) the doctrine of collateral estoppel bars 
Livingston's collection action. Leonard relies on an assortment of cases from other jurisdictions; 
he does not cite a single Minnesota authority to support his positions. We find no merit in any of 
his arguments. 

I. Assignments of Leonard's credit-card debts were valid. 

Generally, "a debtor has no standing to question the validity of an assignment which is accepted 
as valid between the creditor and his assignee. II Gen. Underwriters, Inc. v. Kline, 233 Minn. 345, 
350, 46 N.W.2d 794, 797-98 (1951). In Kline, the supreme court acknowledged exceptions to 
this rule: (1) "where that assignor or other parties deny the assignee's title" and (2) where 
"defendants are faced with conflicting claims to the debt." [d. In Travertine Corp. v. Lexington-
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Silverwood, 683 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Minn. 2004), the supreme court reiterated that contract 
rights are generally assignable except where the assignment is prohibited by statute or the 
contract, or where the [*9] contract involves a matter of personal trust or confidence. Leonard 
has not asserted that his contracts fall under any of these exceptions. His contracts with Chase 
provide: "[Chase] may assign your account, any amounts you owe us, or any of our rights and 
obligations under this agreement to a third party. The person to whom we make the assignment 
will be entitled to any of our rights that we assign to that person." 

Leonard's argument that his contract with Chase for the TEM account was an unconscionable 
contract of adhesion, making the assignment clause invalid, lacks merit.1 A contract is 
unconscionable if it is "such as no man in his senses and not under delusion would make on the 
one hand, and as no honest and fair man would accept on the other." In re Estate of Hoffbeck, 
415 N.W.2d 447, 449 (Minn. App. 1987) (quoting Hume v. United States, 132 U.S. 406, 411, 10 
S.Ct. 134, 136, 33 L. Ed. 393 (1889». "A finding of unconscionability requires that one 
contracting party show that it had no meaningful choice but to accept the contract term as 
offered" and that the term was "unreasonably favorable to the other party." Dorsa Trailer Sales, 
Inc. v. Am. Body & Trailer, Inc., 372 N.W.2d 412, 415 (Minn. App. 1985) [*10] (quotations 
omitted), review denied (Minn. Oct. 18, 1985). 

FOOTNOTES 

1 Leonard did not make this argument to the district court in Livingston's action, therefore 
. the argument is waived as to Livingston. Thielev. Stich, 425 N.W.2d 580, 582-83 (Minn. 
1988) (stating that generally, an appellate court will not consider matters not argued to and 
considered by the district court). 

An adhesion contract is "a contract generally not bargained for, but which is imposed on the 
public for necessary service on a 'take it or leave it' basis." Schlobohm v. Spa Petite, Inc., 326 
N.W.2d 920, 924 (Minn. 1982). But the mere fact that a contract is on a printed form and 
offered on a "take-it-or-Ieave-it" basis does not make it an adhesion contract. Id. Instead, "[t] 
here must be a showing that the parties were greatly disparate in bargaining power, that there 
was no opportunity for negotiation[,] and that the services could not be obtained elsewhere." Id. 
at 924-25. 

Leonard has cited no authority to support his argument that the assignment clause in his credit
card contract with Chase is an agreement that no man in his right senses would make. In 
Minnesota, contract rights are generally aSSignable, and even without [* 11] the clause, the 
contract would have been deemed assignable. Travertine Corp., 683 N.W.2d at 270. And 
Leonard has not shown that his credit-card contract was a contract of adhesion. He does not 
assert that a credit-card account with Chase was a necessary service or that he could not obtain 
a credit card elsewhere. n[p]ublic policy requires that freedom of contract remain inviolate 
except only in cases when the particular contract violates some principle which is of even greater 
importance to the general public." Christensen v. Eggen, 577 N.W.2d 221, 225 (Minn. 1998) 
(quotation omitted). There is no such violation here. 

II. Due process does not require notice of assignment. 

Leonard argues that due process requires notice of the aSSignments of his credit-card debt so 
that he might be afforded the opportunity to purchase the debt on the same terms that Chase 
gave to the assignees. But in Minnesota, it is well settled that notice to an obligor is not essential 
to the validity of an assignment as between an aSSignor and an assignee. See Pillsbury Inv. Co. 
v. Otto, 242 Minn. 432,437,65 N.W.2d 913,916 (1954) (stating that until notice is given, the 
obligor may continue to regard the assignor [*12] as the owner of the thing assigned); Vetter 
v. Sec. Cont'l Ins. Co., 567 N.W.2d 516, 521 (Minn. 1997) (liAs a general rule, and in the 
absence of a contractual provision to the contrary, an obligor on a contract may assign all 
beneficial rights to another, or may delegate his or her duty to perform under the contract to 
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another, without the consent of the obligee."). Leonard's assertion that he was entitled to notice 
of assignment for any purpose other than establishing to whom payments should be made is 
without merit. 

III. Evidence of the assignments was sufficient. 

Leonard argues that TEM and Livingston have not sufficiently substantiated their ownership of 
his credit-card accounts. SpeCifically, he contends that the affidavits submitted by TEM and 
Livingston do not satisfy the requirement of Minn. R. Civ. P. 56.05 that supporting affidavits be 
made on personal knowledge setting forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence. While 
we conduct a de novo review of a district court's summary judgment decision, McKee v. Laurion, 
825 N.W.2d 725, 729 (Minn. 2013), "we [*13] review a district court's evidentiary rulings, 
including rulings on foundational reliability, for an abuse of discretion." Doe 76C v. Archdiocese 
of St. Paul and Minneapolis, 817 N.W.2d 150, 164 (Minn. 2012). Decisions on foundation are 
within the sound discretion of the district court, and a district court may allow a qualified witness 
other than the custodian of a business record to establish foundation for admissibility of another 
business's records. Minn. R. Evid. 803(6), 901(a); Nat'l Tea Co. v. Tyler Refrigeration Co., 339 
N.W.2d 59, 62 (Minn. 1983) (holding that district court should be guided by certain principles 
relating to whether evidence was prepared for presentation in case being tried, whether report 
was made by .independent agency or hired agency, when report was made, and nature of 
organization preparing the report). 

In this case, the district courts did not abuse discretion by accepting TEM's. and Livingston's 
supporting affidavits and attached exhibits. Both district courts found that the affiants were 
qualified and competent to testify as to their respective company's business practices and 
records associated with the assignments of Leonard's credit-card accounts as [*14] well as 
Chase's records of the account balances. Each affiant attested that he was in a position to have 
personal knowledge of the matters referenced in his affidavit and was familiar with the business 
records· associated with the relevant Leonard account. 

Based on the affidavits and attached exhibits, the district courts correctly concluded that TEM 
and Livingston provided sufficient evidence of the assignment of the respective accounts and the 
details of each account assigned. See Mountain Peaks Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Roth-Steffen, 778 
N. W .2d 380, 387 (Minn. App. 2010) (stating that documents showing successive assignments of 
a loan, submitted with an affidavit of an agent of the ultimate assignee, who had knowledge of 
that assignee's business-records-retention policies, were admissible under Minn. R. Evid. 803 
(6». Leonard failed to present any evidence contradicting TEM's and Livingston's ownership of 
his credit-card accounts. A party opposing summary judgment "may not rest upon the mere 
averments or denials of the adverse party's pleading but must present specific facts showing 
that there is a genuine issue for trial." Minn. R. Civ. P. 56.05. IIGeneral assertions" are not 
enough to [* 15] create a genuine issue of material fact. Nicollet Restoration, Inc. v. City of St. 
Paul, 533 N.W.2d 845, 848 (Minn. 1995). IIIn order to successfully oppose a motion for summary 
judgment, appellant must extract specific, admissible facts from the voluminous record and 
particularize them for the trial judge." Kletschka v. Abbott-Northwestern Hosp., Inc., 417 N. W .2d 
752, 754 (Minn. App. 1988) (emphasis added), review denied (Minn. Mar. 30, 1988). And 
Leonard does not challenge the accuracy of the balance of the accounts such that, even if he 
articulated a valid challenge to admission of the Chase account statements into evidence, any 
error in admitting these documents is harmless. Because Leonard has raised no genuine issue of 
material fact regarding ownership or the balance of either account, the district courts did not err 
by granting summary judgment to TEM and Livingston.2 

FOOTNOTES 

2 Because Leonard does not challenge the amount owed on either account, we do not 
address his arguments relating to the theory of account stated to establish those amounts. 
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IV. Collateral estoppel 

Leonard asserts the judgment in favor of TEM estops Livingston from bringing an action to 
collect the debt owing on the [* 16] Livingston account. But Leonard's argument that the two 
accounts represent "essentially the same debt" is simply not correct. 

"A test for determining whether two successive suits involve the same claims is to inquire 
whether both actions arise from the same operative nucleus of facts. II Nitz v. Nitz, 456 N. W .2d 
450, 451 (Minn. App. 1990) (quotation omitted). 

Collateral estoppel prevents a party from relitigating issues if (1) the issue is 
identical to one in a prior adjudication; (2) there was a final judgment on the merits; 
(3) the estopped party was a party in the prior case; and (4) there was a full and 
fair opportunity to be heard on the issue. 

In re Trust Created by Hill, 499 N.W.2d 475, 484 (Minn. App. 1993), review denied (Minn. July 
15, 1993). Collateral estoppel does not apply where an issue has not been actually litigated and 
decided. We review whether collateral estoppel precludes litigation de novo. Hauschildt v. 
Beckingham, 686 N.W.2d 829, 837 (Minn. 2004). 

TEM's and Livingston's collection actions do not arise from the same operative nucleus of facts. 
Leonard entered into two separate credit-card contracts with Chase. He used separate credit 
cards for each account and was [* 17] separately billed monthly for each account. Leonard 
defaulted on both accounts. The debts are separate, and the fact that they were owed to the 
same creditor before the creditor chose to assign the accounts to separate parties does not 
make them the same debt. The separate lawsuits do not involve the. same parties or the same 
debts. Collateral estoppel does not preclude Livingston's claim. 

Affirmed. 
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OPINION 

MEMORANDUM OPI NION AND ORD ER 

Plaintiff David Krawczyk has brought this lawsuit 
aga inst Defendants Centurion Capital Corporation, Blatt, 
Bascnmiller, Lcibsker & Moore, LLC, and Palisades 
Acquisition XVI, LLC, for alleged violations of the Fair 
Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"). 15 u.s.c. § 
1692, el seq., and malicious prosecution. Defendants 
have moved for summary judgment on all six counts of 
Plaintiffs' second amended complaint [69], and Plainti ff 
has moved for sUI11m31Y judgment as to Counts I, II , III , 
and V [72]. Plainti ff also has moved to strike the 
declarations of Cheryl Kavanagh, Peter Fish, and 
Kenneth Wake [8 1] , whi ch Defendants submitted in 
Slip port or their Illation for Slim mary judgment. For the 
ro llowing reasons, the Court grants Defendants' motion 
for summary judgment [69] as to [*2] Counts I, II, 1JI, V, 
and VI and dismisses Count IV without prejudice. The 
Court denies Plainti frs motion for summary judgment 
(72] in it s entirety. and also denies Plaintifrs motion to 
strike the declarat ions of Cheryl Kavanagh, Peter Fish, 
and Kenneth Wake [8 1]. 



2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12204, *2 
Page 2 

I. Factual Background 

On July 25, 2006, Defendant Centurion Capital 
Corporation ("Centurion"), through its attorneys at 
Defendant Blatt, Hasenrniller, Leibsker & Moore, LLC 
("Blatt"), 1 filed a collection lawsuit against Plaintiff 
David Krawczyk in the Circuit Court of Cook County, 
Illinois, captioned Centurion Capital Corp. v. Krawczyk 
and bearing the case number 06 M 1 158141. The lawsuit 
alleged that Centurion was the assignee of Providian 
Bank, the financial institution with which Plaintiff 
allegedly opened a charge account. According to the state 
court complaint, Plaintiff charged purchases to his 
Providian account but failed to make the required 
monthly payments, resulting in a debt of $ 1,261.98. The 
affidavit listed the account holder as David Krawczyk 
and the account number as 4479 450523308592. 

Blatt is a law firm specializing in bankruptcy 
and consumer debt collection. 

According to Plaintiff's deposition, the last [*3] 
payment that he made on· his account with Providian 
Bank was in 1999, before he moved from California to 
Illinois. He claims that he closed his account with 
Providian before he moved to Chicago and that the 
closing of his account was the last contact that he had 
with Providian. He also testified that prior to being served 
with the state court lawsuit, he never had any contact or 
communication with Centurion or Blatt. 

The picture painted by Defendants, through the 
affidavits of Cheryl Kavanagh, vice president of 
Centurion, and Kenneth Wake, a partner at Blatt, is quite 
different. Kavanagh claims that Centurion purchased a 
portfolio of defaulted debt from Capital One on 
December 8, 2005, which contained Plaintiffs debt for 
his Providian National Bank credit card account. 
Defendants contend that upon purchasing Plaintiff's debt, 
Centurion received information from Capital One 
regarding the debt, including the credit card number, the 
amount of the debt, the date Providian National Bank 
"charged ocr' the debt, 2 the date of the last payment 
made by Plaintiff on the debt, and Plaintiffs last known 
address and social security number. Defendants claim 
that this information showed that Plaintiff [*4] owed $ 

1,261.98 on his account, that Providian charged off the 
debt on June 28, 1999, and that Plaintiff's last payment on 
that account was made on March 5, 2004, in the amount 
of$ 484.00. 

2 A "charge orr' is the removal of an account 
from a credit card issuer's books as an asset after 
it has been delinquent for a period of time, usually 
180 days. See, e.g.. Black's Law Dictionary (8th 
ed.2004). 

Centurion retained Blatt to collect on Plaintiffs debt 
and to represent Centurion in the event that litigation was 
necessary to collect the alleged debt. Blatt, through the 
affidavit of Wake, claims that it sent an initial demand 
letter to Plaintiff on June 2, 2006, and that the letter 
contained the validation notice required pursuant to 15 
U.S.c. § 1692g(a) along with the amount of the debt and 
the creditor's name. According to the declaration of 
Wake, once an account is loaded onto Blatt's computer 
system, the system automatically generates an initial 
demand letter by inserting the account specific 
information into what otherwise is a standardized form 
letter. Blatt's computerized account notes show that the 
initial demand letter was sent to Plaintiff on June 2, 2006, 
and that the letter [*5] was addressed to 5 N. Wabash 
Ave., Chicago, Illinois, 60602-4703. 3 

3 Plaintiff admits residing at and receiving mail 
at that address. 

The state court collection lawsuit was set for trial on 
November 14, 2006. On November 2, 2006, Plaintiff 
(defendant in the state court action) filed a motion to 
dismiss the collection lawsuit pursuant to § 2-619 of the 
Illinois Code of Civil Procedure, asserting that the 
collection lawsuit was based upon an account that did not 
exist and, even if the account did exist, the suit was filed 
outside the applicable limitations period. On November 
14, 2006, Centurion and Blatt agreed to voluntarily 
dismiss the collection lawsuit against Plaintiff. On 
November 16, 2006, Plaintiff filed suit in this Court 
against Centurion and Blatt. 

On February 3, 2007, Defendant Palisades 
Acquisition XVI, LLC ("Palisades") purchased a 
portfolio of defaulted debt from Centurion, which 
included Plaintiffs debt at issue in the present lawsuit. 
On March 26, 2007, Blatt and Palisades sent Plaintiffs 
counsel a letter regarding the same credit card account 
that had been the subject of the state court action. The 
letter, composed on Blatt stationary, stated that Palisades 
had purchased [*6] Plaintiff's account (4479 4505 2330 
8592) from Centurion and contended that Plaintiff owed 
$ 1,419.38 on the account. The letter stated that it was an 
"attempt to collect a debt" and that the firm was acting 
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pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 
U.S.C.A. § 1692, et seq. The letter also included the 
following provision: 

If you do not dispute the validity of this 
debt, or any portion thereof, within 30 
days of receipt of this letter, we will 
assume it is valid. If you do dispute the 
validity of this debt, or any portion 
thereof, please notify us in writing, within 
30 days of receipt of this letter and we will 
mail verification of the debt, or a copy of a 
judgment, if applicable, to you. We will 
also provide you with the name and 
address of the original creditor, if different 
from the current Creditor, if you request 
the same from us, in writing, within 30 
days of receipt of this letter. 

Plaintiff stated in his deposition that he did not receive 
this letter and had never seen it prior to his deposition. 

On May 2, 2007, Plaintiff amended his complaint in 
this case, adding Palisades as a defendant. Plaintiffs 
six-count second amended complaint alleges the 
following causes [*7] of action: Count I alleges a 
violation of § 1692e(2)(A) of the FDCPA against 
Centurion and Blatt; Count II alleges a violation of § 
1692f(1) against Centurion and Blatt; Count III alleges a 
violation of § 1692g against Centurion and Blatt; Count 
IV alleges malicious prosecution against Centurion and 
Blatt; Count V alleges a violation of § 1692e(2)(A) 
against Palisades and Blatt; and Count VI alleges a 
violation of § 1692f(1) against Palisades and Blatt. 
Defendants' second amended answer includes the 
following affirmative defense: "Any violation of the 
FDCP A was not intentional and resulted from a bona fide 
error notwithstanding the maintenance of procedures 
reasonably adapted to avoid such error." See 15 U.S. C § 
1692k(c). Defendants have moved for summary judgment 
on all counts of Plaintiff's second amended complaint, 
while Plaintiff has moved for summary judgment on 
Counts I, II, III, and V. 

II. Motion to Strike Declarations 

Before moving to the merits of the parties' motions 
for summary judgment, Plaintiff asks the Court to strike, 
in whole or in part, the declarations of Cheryl Kavanagh 
(a vice president of Defendant Centurion), Peter Fish 

(director of litigation for Defendant Palisades), [*8] and 
Kenneth Wake (a partner with Defendant Blatt), which 
were submitted by Defendants in their Local Rule 56.1 
Statement of Material Facts and in their Response to 
Plaintiffs Local Rule 56.1 Statement of Facts and 
Statement of Additional Facts. Plaintiff argues that the 
declarations of Kavanagh and Fish should be excluded 
because they are based on hearsay, fail to comply with 
Rule 56(e) , and were made by declarants whom 
Defendants failed to disclose in their Rule 26(a) 
disclosures. Plaintiff contends that the declaration of 
Wake should be excluded because it is hearsay and fails 
to comply with Rule 56(e). 

Federal Rule of Evidence 801(c) defines hearsay as 
"a statement, other than one made by the declarant while 
testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to 
prove the truth of the matter asserted." Fed. R. Evid. 
801 (c). "[H]earsay is inadmissible in summary judgment 
proceedings to the same extent that it is inadmissible in a 
trial." Eisenstadt v. Centel Corp., 113 F.3d 738, 742 (7th 
Cir. 1997). Plaintiff contends that declarations should not 
be admitted under the business records exception to the 
hearsay rule because the records that form the basis for 
the statements in [*9] the declarations are based on the 
records of another entity, Capital One, and Capital One's 
records are based on the records of yet another entity, 
Providian National Bank. Defendants first respond that 
the information in the affidavits regarding Plaintiff's 
account is not offered to prove that Plaintiff actually 
owed a debt in the amount of $ 1,261.98 or that his last 
payment on the account was on March 5, 2004, in the 
amount of $ 484.00. Rather, Defendants argue that this 
information is offered to establish that Centurion and 
Palisades had a good faith reason for pursuing collection 
actions against Plaintiff. Defendants also argue that the 
records fit within the business record exception to the 
hearsay rule. 

If information is not offered for its truth, it cannot 
qualify as hearsay. With respect to the information in the 
affidavits, Defendants argue that it is being offered to 
explain why both Centurion and Palisades believed they 
had the right to initiate collection proceedings. In other 
words, it is being offered to show the effect that the 
information had on Centurion and Palisades. See Woods 
v. City of Chicago, 234 F.3d 979, 986 (7th Cir. 2000) 
(finding that district court did [* 10] not run "afoul" of 
the prohibition on hearsay by considering statement 
strictly to determine the "effect" that they would have 
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upon arresting officers). To the extent that the states of 
mind of both Centurion and Palisades in instituting debt 
collection proceedings are at issue in this case, the 
affidavits of Kavanagh and Fish may be used to show the 
effect the infonnation had on Defendants. 

The Court also is persuaded by Defendants' 
argument that the records of Centurion and Palisades fall 
under the business records exception to the hearsay rule. 
Rule 803(6) provides that regularly kept business records 
may be admitted to prove the truth of the matters asserted 
therein because they are presumed to be exceptionally 
reliable. Fed. R. Evid. 803(6); U.S. v. Emenogha, 1 F.3d 
473, 483-484 (7th Cir. 1993). To qualify as business 
records under Rule 803(6), "l) the document must be 
prepared in the nonnal course of business; 2) it must be 
made at or near the time of the events it records; and 3) it 
must be based on ~e personal knowledge of the entrant 

. or on the personal knowledge of an infonnant having a 
business duty to transmit the information to the entrant." 
Datamatic Servs., Inc. v. United States, 909 F.2d 1029, 
1032 (7th Cir. 1990). [* Il] liThe admissibility of 
business records is entrusted to the broad discretion of the 
trial court, and the court's ruling will not be disturbed 
absent an abuse of that discretion. II Id. 

As recognized by the Massachusetts Supreme 
Judicial Court in Beal Bank, SSB v. Eurich, "[t]he 
problem of proving a debt that has been assigned several 
times is of great importance to mortgage lenders and 
financial institutions." 444 Mass. 813, 831 N.E.2d 909, 
914 (Mass. 2005) (citing New England Sav. Bank v. 
Bedford Realty Corp., 246 Conn. 594, 717 A.2d 713 
(1998)). Given the common practice of financial 
institutions buying and seIling loans, the court in Beal 
detennined that it is normal business practice to maintain 
accurate business records regarding such loans and to 
provide them to those acquiring the loan. Id.; see also 
Federal Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Staudinger, 797 F.2d 908, 
910 (10th Cir. 1986) ("foundation for admissibility may 
at times be predicated on judicial notice of the nature of 
the business and the nature of the records * * * 
particularly in the case of bank and similar statements"). 
The court concluded that the bank was not required to 
provide testimony from a witness with personal 
knowledge regarding the maintenance [* 12] of the 
predecessors' business records because the bank's reliance 
on this type of record keeping by others rendered the 
records the equivalent of the bank's own records. See also 
U.s. v. Adefehinti, 379 u.s. App. D.C. 91, 510 F.3d 319. 

326 (D. C. Cir. 2007) (finding that pursuant to lithe rule of 
incorporation, II the record of which a business takes 
custody is thereby "made" by the business within the 
meaning of the rule); Matter of Ol/ag Construction 
Equipment Corp .. 665 F.2d 43, 46 (2d Cir. /981) 
(finding that "business records are admissible if witnesses 
testify that the records are integrated into a company's 
records and relied upon in its day-to-day operations"); 
u.s. v. Carranco, 551 F.2d 1197, 1200 (10th Cir. 1977) 
(holding that freight bills, though drafted by other 
companies, were business records of a shipping company 
because they were "adopted and relied upon by" the 
shipping company). The Beal court also stated that lito 
hold otherwise would severely impair the ability of 
assignees of debt to collect the debt due because the 
assignee's business records of the debt are necessarily 
premised on the payment records of its predecessors." 
831 N.E.2d at 914.4 

4 Lastly, the Beal court noted that a debtor 
[* 13] typically would have records of any 
payment made and thus would readily be able to 
demonstrate any error in prior credits or 
calculations. 444 N.E.2d at 819 n. 4. In the 
present case, Plaintiff claims that he has no 
documents related to his Providian account, no 
account statements, no cancelled checks, and no 
proof that any payment was made on his 
Providian debt. Additionally, Plaintiff could not 
recall where he banked at the time that he had the 
Providian credit card, so Defendants were unable 
to compare their records with Plaintiffs to 
confirm any payments Plaintiff may have made. 
Finally, according to Defendants and not disputed 
by Plaintiff, Plaintiff did not conduct any 
discovery in this matter. 

Plaintiff argues that the second and third business 
record requirements are not satisfied because (i) 
Centurion's and Palisades' records were not created at or 
near the time the alleged debt arose (or even at the time 
of Plaintiffs last payment) and (ii) Kavanagh did not 
have personal knowledge of the creation of the record. To 
qualify documents as business records, Rule 803(6) does 
not require the witness herself to have created the records 
about which she is testifying. See Thanongsinh v. Board 
of Educ., 462 F.3d 762, 777 (7th Cir. 2006); [*14] U.S. 
v. Keplinger, 776 F.2d 678, 693-94 (7th Cir. 1985) 
{" [T]he business records exception contains no 
requirement that a 'qualified witness' must have 
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personally participated in the creation or maintenance of 
a document * * * nor even know who actually recorded 
the information") (internal citations omitted); U.S. v. 
Duncan, 919 F.2d 981, 986 (5th Cir. 1990) ("There is no 
requirement that the witness who lays the foundation be 
the author of the record or be able to personally attest to 
its accuracy."). Rather, a custodian or otherwise qualified 
witness must explain the record-keeping procedures of 
the organization and testify that she has knowledge of the 
procedures under which the records were created. 
Thanongsinh, 462 F.3d at 777. Moreover, personal 
knowledge of business records may be inferred from a 
declarant's position within a company. Jenkins v. Heintz, 
124 F.3d 824, 831 (7th Cir. 1997). Ultimately, the 
primary emphasis of Rule 803(6) is on the "reliability or 
trustworthiness of the records sought to be introduced." 

Relying on the previously set forth principles as well 
as those espoused by the court in Beal, this Court finds 
that Centurion integrated the Capital One records [* 15] 
into its own records and relied upon them in its daily 
operations. Centurion relied upon the information, 
provided, by Capital One when attempting to collect on 
Plaintiffs defaulted debt. Centurion, as a debt collector, 
was aware of the penalties for attempting to collect bogus 
debts; therefore, its reliance on the records' provides 
another assurance of reliability. Kavanagh's affidavit 
attests that she has personal knowledge of Centurion's 
record-keeping, she is competent to testify to those 
matters, and she has reviewed and is familiar with the 
records relating to Plaintiffs debt. She further explains 
how Centurion's automated collection system database 
created the record of Plaintiffs alleged defaulted debt on 
December 8, 2005, the same day Centurion purchased the 
debt from Capital One as part of a portfolio of defaults. 
As soon as Centurion had the information available to it, 
it created a record contain~ng Plaintiffs credit card 
number, the amount of the debt, the last date of payment, 
and the debtor's last known address and social security 
number. Additionally, the record was transferred from 
Capital One to Centurion's automated collection system 
database without alteration. [* 16] Although Kavanagh 
did not author the record in question, the business record 
exception does not impose any such requirement. See 
Duncan, 919 F.2d at 986. Kavanagh's affidavit, testifying 
to the records that Centurion received from Capital One, 
is reliable and can be relied upon in support of summary 
judgment. And, for the same reasons, the affidavit of 
Peter Fish is deemed reliable and also can be used in 
support of Defendants' motion for summary judgment. 5 

5 Fish's affidavit attests that Palisades received 
Plaintiffs account information in the ordinary 
course of business upon purchasing Plaintiffs 
alleged debt from Centurion. According to Fish, 
all of the information was transferred into 
Palisades' automated collection system database 
without alteration. Fish also stated that he had 
reviewed Palisades' records and could testify 
competently with respect to the records kept by 
Palisades. 

Plaintiff argues that the declaration of Kenneth Wake 
is inadmissible hearsay because Wake did not personally 
send a disclosure letter to Plaintiff. Defendants argue that 
it falls under the business records exception to the 
hearsay rule. As set forth earlier, to establish that a 
writing falls under [* 17] the business records exception, 
the party need not produce the individual who actually 
created the record. See Thanongsinh, 462 F.3d at 777. A 
party must produce a records custodian who has 
knowledge of the record-keeping practices and who can 
testify that such records are kept in the ordinary course of 
business. [d. In Wake's affidavit, he stated that he is 
familiar with the record-keeping procedures of Blatt and 
he explained those procedures in detail. He explained 'that 
when his firm receives a collection account from a client, 
its collection software system generates an initial demand 
letter that contains a validation notice required by § 
1692g of the FDCPA. According to Wake, Plaintiffs 
account information shows that Blatt sent such a letter to 
Plaintiff on June 2, 2006. According to Wake's records, 
the letter was sent to the address Plaintiff had on file, and 
there is no record of that letter being undeliverable or 
returned. Even though Wake did not personally send the 
letter to Plaintiff, he has sufficient personal knowledge of 
Blatt's record-keeping procedures such that the 
information relied upon in his affidavit falls under the 
business records exception to the hearsay rule. [*18] See 
Jenkins v. Heintz, J 24 F.3d 824, 831 (7th Cir. 1997) (law 
firm partner was permitted to make statements under oath 
"concerning the firm's numerous business records"). 
Moreover, the Court deems the sample form letter 
attached to Wake's affidavit to be representative of the 
initial demand letter that Blatt's system generates for each 
collection account. 

Finally, the Court is not persuaded by Plaintiffs 
argument that the affidavits of Kavanagh and Fish should 
be stricken because they were not properly disclosed as 
persons with discoverable information as required by 
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Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 26(a}. In their Rule 
26(a} disclosures, Defendants identified "unknown 
representatives" of Centurion and Palisades. These 
disclosures adequately notified Plaintiff that Defendants 
might use information from company representatives to 
support their claims or defenses. Rule 26(a} initial 
disclosures are just that - preliminary disclosures - and 
are not intended to be a substitute for conducting the 
necessary discovery. Plaintiff could have filed a notice 
for a Rule 30(b)(6} deposition of the Centurion or 
Palisades representatives, but he failed to do so. Any 
prejudice to Plaintiff resulted [* 19] from not conducting 
his own discovery with respect to Defendants' witnesses, 
not from Defendants' bad faith or willfulness in failing to 
specify the names of the representatives whom they 
intended to use. See, e.g., David v. Caterpillar, Inc., 324 
F.3d 851, 857 (7th Cir. 2003). 

For these reasons, the Court denies Plaintiffs motion 
to strike the declarations of Cheryl Kavanagh, Peter Fish, 
and Kenneth Wake and will consider the declarations in 
ruling on summary judgment motions. 

III. Legal Standard 

Summary judgment is proper where "the pleadings, 
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions 
on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that 
there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that 
the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of 
law." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). In determining whether there 
is a genuine issue of fact, the Court "must construe the 
facts and draw all reasonable inferences in the light most 
favorable to the nonmoving party." Foley v. City of 
Lafayette, Ind., 359 F.3d 925, 928 (7th Cir. 2004). To 
avoid summary judgment, the opposing party must go 
beyond the pleadings and "set forth specific facts 
showing that there is a genuine issue [*20] for trial. II 
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250, J06 
S. Ct. 2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (J 986) (internal quotation 
marks and citation omitted). A genuine issue of material 
fact exists if "the evidence is such that a reasonable jury 
could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." ld. at 
248. The party seeking summary judgment has the 
burden of establishing the lack of any genuine issue of 
material fact. See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 
323, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). Summary 
judgment is proper against "a party who fails to make a 
showing sufficient to establish the existence of an 
element essential to that party's case, and on which that 

party will bear the burden of proof at trial." [d. at 322. 
The non-moving party "must do more than simply show 
that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material 
facts." Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio 
Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S. Ct. 1348, 89 L. Ed. 2d 
538 (1986). "The mere existence of a scintilla of evidence 
in support of the [non-movant's] position will be 
insufficient; there must be evidence on which the jury 
could reasonably find for the [non-movant]." Anderson, 
477 U.S. at 252. 

The issue before this Court is not whether, as a 
matter of law, Plaintiff owes Defendants on the credit 
card [*21] account he originally had with Providian. 
That matter was appropriate for the state court collection 
suit, where Centurion and Blatt carried the burden of 
proof, but that action was dismissed by agreement of the 
parties. Rather, the issue is whether Defendants violated 
the FDCP A in the manner in which they sought to collect 
the purported debt by sending Plaintiff letters and filing a 
civil suit. In other words, did Defendants use unfair or 
unconscionable collection methods, engage in conduct 
meant to harass, oppress, or abuse Plaintiff, or make 
false, deceptive, or misleading statements in the letters or 
lawsuit? These are issues upon which Plaintiff would 
bear the burden of proof at trial. If there is an absence of 
evidence to support Plaintiffs FDCP A claims, or if no 
specific facts establish genuine issues for trial, 
Defendants are entitled to summary judgment. 

IV. Discussion 

A. Sections 1692e(2)(A) and 1692/(1) 

In Count I, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants 
Centurion and Blatt violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e by (1) 
falsely stating the amount of the debt in the state court 
lawsuit; and (2) falsely claiming an account stated of $ 
1,261.98 in the state court lawsuit. In Count II, Plaintiff 
[*22] alleges that Defendants Centurion and Blatt 
violated 15 U.S.c. § J692fby (1) suing Plaintiff on a debt 
he did not owe; (2) failing to attach to the state court 
complaint the underlying credit card contract and 
evidence of assignments; (3) asserting an account stated 
without providing evidence of the account stated; and (4) 
filing a lawsuit when Centurion was not licensed to do 
business in Illinois. 6 

6 In his second amended complaint, Plaintiff 
alleges that Centurion violated 15 u.s. C. § 1692f 
by filing a lawsuit when Centurion was not 
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licensed to do business in Illinois. In their motion 
for summary judgment, Defendants argue that 
Centurion was not required to be licensed in 
Illinois to file the collection lawsuit because (i) 
filing a lawsuit does not constitute "transacting 
business" as defined by the Business Corporation 
Act (see 805 ILCS 5/13.75; St. Louis Hillr; 
Urological Assoc. v. Nicoletti, 153 Ill. App. 3d 
1044, 506 N.E.2d 602, 603, 106 Ill. Dec. 802 (5th 
Dist. 1987)), and (ii) a foreign corporation is not 
required to register with the state of llIinois when 
it conducts interstate commerce (see Career 
Concepts, Inc. v. Synergy, Inc., 372 111. App. 3d 
395, 865 N.E.2d 385, 392, 310 Ill. Dec. 61 (Ill. 
App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2007)). Plaintiff did not respond 
to either [*23] of these arguments and advanced 
no arguments in support of his assertion that 
Centurion violated § 1692[by not being licensed 
in Illinois .. In view of the authority cited by 
Defendants, as well as the absence of any 
argument at all, much less citation to contrary 
authority, by Plaintiff, the Court finds that 
Centurion did not violate the FDCP A by filing the 
state court lawsuit when it was not licensed or 
registered in Illinois. See Rice v. Palisades 
Acquisition XVI. LLC, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXlS 
13951, 2008 WL 538921, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 25. 
2008) (finding that by maintaining a lawsuit 
against a plaintiff, Centurion had not transacted 
business in Illinois and had not violated the 
FDCP A by not registering in Illinois prior to 
filing a collection lawsuit). 

The FDCP A was enacted by Congress to protect 
consumers who have been victimized by unscrupulous 
debt collectors, regardless of whether there is a valid debt 
owed. See, e.g., Baker v. G. C. Services Corp., 677 F.2d 
775 (9th Cir. 1982). A central purpose of the FDCPA is 
"to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt 
collectors." 15 U.S.c. § 1692e. In relevant part, Section 
1692e prohibits a debt collector from using "any false, 
deceptive, or misleading representation [*24] or means 
in connection with the collection of any debt" and lists 
the following among examples of prohibited conduct: 
false representation of "the character, amount, or legal 
status of any debt," a "threat to take any action that 
cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be 
taken," and "[t]he use of any false representation or 
deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt 
or to obtain information concerning a consumer." 15 

U.S.c. §§ I 692e(2), (5) & (10). The FDCPA also 
prohibits debt collectors from using "unfair or 
unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any 
debt." 15 V.S.c. § 1692f. Unconscionable and unfair 
conduct includes collecting any amount (e.g .• interest, 
fees, and other charges) unless the amount is "expressly 
authorized by the agreement creating the debt or 
permitted by law.u 15 U.S.c. § 1692[(1). Courts view 
FDCP A claims "through the eyes of an 'unsophisticated 
debtor. III McMillan V. Collection Profls Inc., 455 F.3d 
754. 758 (7th Cir. 2006) (citation omitted). 

The Seventh Circuit has held that u§ 1692e applies 
even when a false representation was unintentional." 
Gearing v. Check Brokerage Corp., 233 F.3d 469. 472 
(7th Cir. 2000) (citing [*25] Russell v. Equifax A.R.S., 
74 F.3d 30. 33 (2d Cir. 1996) (because the Act imposes 
strict liability, a consumer need not show intentional 
conduct by the debt collector to be entitled to damages»; 
see also Randolph v. IMBS, Inc., 368 F.3d 726, 730 (7th 
Cir. 2004) (U[Section] 1692e(2)(A) creates a 
strict-liability rule"). Moreover, the test· for determining 
whether a debt collector violated § 1692e is objective, 
"turning not on the question of what the debt collector 
knew but on whether the debt collectors commUnication 
would deceive or mislead an unsophisticated, but 
reasonable, consumer." Turner V. J. V.D.B. & Asso., Inc., 
330 F.3d 991, 995 (7th Cir. 2003); see also McMillan v. 
Collection Profls Inc., 455 F.3d 754, 758 (7th Cir. 2006) 
(citation omitted). Despite the strict construction of the 
statute, a debt collector that violates any substantive 
provision of the FDCP A can avoid liability by proving by 
a preponderance of the evidence that (i) the violation was 
unintentional, resulting from a "bona fide error, II and (2) 
that erro·r occurred "notwithstanding the maintenance of 
procedures reasonably adapted to avoid any such error." 
Jenkins V. Heintz, 124 F.3d 824,828 (7th Gir. 1997). 

Plaintiff [*26] grounds his claim on what he 
contends were procedural defects in the state court 
complaint - claims that he also raised in his motion to 
dismiss the state court action but that were never 
adjudicated because that motion was stricken by the court 
when the parties agreed to dismissal of the state court suit 
without prejudice. Plaintiff contends that Defendants 
falsely stated the amount of the debt because they failed 
to attach a copy of the credit card contract to the state 
court complaint. However, attaching a copy of the credit 
card contract to a complaint has no impact on the truth or 
falsity of the amount of the debt; it may have some 
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bearing on the ultimate weight of the evidence, but failing 
to attach the agreement to the complaint does not make 
the allegation of indebtedness "false." 

Moreover, it seems to be the well within the province 
of the state court judge to make the determination as to 
what must be attached to a state court pleading. Although 
it did not resolve the issue, in Beier v. Blatt Hasenmiller 
Leibsker & Moore, 480 F.3d 470, 473 (7th Cir. 2007), 
the Seventh Circuit noted that "it [*27] is far from clear 
that the FDCP A controls the contents of pleadings filed 
in state court. n In Beier, the plaintiff filed an FDCP A 
lawsuit against the defendant claiming that the 
defendant's state court collection complaint violated the 
FDCPA because the allegations were allegedly confusing 
and unclear. ld. at 472. The Beier court observed that 
n[t]his theory assumes that the [FDCPA] regulates the 
contents of complaints, affidavits, and other papers filed 
in state court. n ld. Referring to its earlier decision in 
Thomas v. Simpson & Cybak, 392 F.3d 914 (7th. Cir. 
2004), the Court noted: 

But Thomas did'. not imply that the 
FDCPA dictates the complaint's contents; 
to the contrary, we suggested (though we 
did not have an occasion to hold) that the 
state's rules of procedure, not federal law, 
determine which facts, and how much 
detail, must be included in documents 
filed with a clerk of court for presentation 
to a judge * * * * Given [a recent] 
amendment and the limited rationale of 
Thomas itself, it is far from clear that the 
FDCP A controls the contents of pleadings 
filed in state court. 

While not definitive, this language suggests that a 
judgment about the quality of the pleadings and evidence 
[*28] submitted in state court should be left to the 
discretion of the state court judge. 

Furthermore, n[e]ven when viewed from the 
perspective of the unsophisticated consumer, the filing of 
a debt collection lawsuit * * * does not have the natural 
consequence of harassing, abusing or oppressing the 
debtor. Any attempt to collect a defaulted debt will be 
unwanted * * * but employing the court system * * * 
cannot be said to be an abusive tactic under the FDCP A. n 
Harvey v. Great Seneca Fin. Corp., 453 F.3d 324, 330-3/ 
(6th Cir. 2006). Losing or voluntarily dismissing a 

collection case does not by itself create an FDCPA claim 
against the creditor and its attorneys. Filing a lawsuit is 
an authorized method of collecting a debt. Id. at 330. And 
while Illinois pleading standards are stricter than federal 
pleading standards under Rule 8, Centurion was not 
required to have all of its proof in the state court case at 
the pleading stage of the state court lawsuit. Defendants 
attached to the state court complaint an affidavit stating 
the name of the credit card issuer, the account number, 
and the amount of the debt. Defendants also alleged that 
Centurion was lithe assignee of said account from 
Providian [*29] Bank having purchased said account in 
the regular course of business in good faith and for 
value. " While this information may not have been 
sufficient to carry the day at trial, it would be sufficient 
under state or federal pleading standards. 

Federal courts have recognized that filing a 
collection lawsuit without the immediate means of 
proving the debt does not violate the FDCP A because a 
defendant is entitled to request more information or 
details about a plaintiffs claim. See Harvey, 453 F.3d at 
330-31; Clark V. Unlfund CCR Partners, 2007 U.S. Dist. 
LEXlS 31552,2007 WL 1258113 (W.D. Pa. 2007). As set 
forth by the court in Deere v. Javitch: 

[F]iling a lawsuit supported by the 
client's affidavit attesting to the existence 
and amount of a debt is not a false 
representation about the character or legal 
status of a debt, nor is it unfair or 
unconscionable. A defendant in any 
lawsuit is entitled to request more 
information or details about a plaintiffs 
claim, either through formal pleadings 
challenging a complaint, or through 
discovery. [Plaintiff] does not allege that 
anything in the state court complaint was 
false, or that the complaint was baseless. 
She essentially alleges that more of a 
paper trail should have [*30] been in the 
lawyers' hands or attached to the 
complaint. The FDCP A imposes no such 
obligation. 

413 F. Supp. 2d 886, 891 (S. D. Ohio 2006). Centurion 
had a good faith basis for pursuing its collection action in 
state court. Plaintiffs claim that Defendants Centurion 
and Blatt made a false, deceptive, or misleading 
representation by attaching the "Affidavit in Support of 

Ir1-/9~ 
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Judgment" to the state court complaint, without attaching 
further documentary evidence of debt, is insufficient to 
sustain a claim under the FDCP A. 

Plaintiff also argues that Defendants brought a 
time-barred lawsuit. Plaintiff asserts that he closed his 
Providian account in August 1999. He testified that at 
some point around the time he closed his Providian 
account or shortly thereafter, he paid "what I believed I 
owed," which was less than what Providian said he owed. 
SMF P 32. Although he cannot personally recall when the 
payment was made, the account data obtained by 
Centurion indicates that Plaintiff made a payment of $ 
484 on March 5, 2004, within five years of the date 
Centurion filed its state court collection action. 7 Plaintiff 
argues, without citation to persuasive or controlling 
authority, that even if the [*31] Court found sufficient 
evidence of a payment made in March 2004, that 
payment does not toll or reset the statute of limitations. 
However, both Illinois state courts and courts in this 
district have found that "part payment of a debt tolls the 
statute of limitations such that it commences to run from 

. the date of last payment. II St. Francis Medical Center v. 
Vernon, 217 Ill. App. 3d 287, 576 N.E.2d 1230, 1231, 
160 Ill. Dec. 276 (Ill. App. Ct. 5th Dist. 1991) (citing 
Department of Mental Health v. Mitchell, 25 Ill. App. 3d 
988, 324 N.E.2d 94, 96 (Ill. 1975)); see also Davis v. 
World Credit Fund /, LLC, 543 F. Supp. 2d 953, 957 
(N.D. Ill. 2008); Parlds v. Arrow Fin. Serv., 2008 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 1212, 2008 WL 94798, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 
8, 2008) (" five year statutory period [for unwritten 
agreements] commences with either the charge off date or 
the last date of payment"). Therefore, if Plaintiff made a 
payment in March 2004, the five year statutory period 
would run from that date and the collection action was 
not time-barred. However, Plaintiff testified that he did 
not make the payment. Defendants intimate that Plaintiff 
may have a selective memory, suggesting that Plaintiff 
appears to be able to recall the facts that are helpful to his 
case, but not the facts that may be harmful. [*32] 8 But 
to wade into that thicket would require the Court to make 
credibility determinations, which it cannot do at this stage 
of the case. See, e.g.. AHP Subsidiary Holding Co. v. 
Stuart Hale Co .• 1 F.3d 611, 619 (7th Cir. 1993) ("the 
district court cannot weigh credibility issues at the 
summary judgment stage"); cf Davis v. World Credit 
Fund /, LLC, 543 F. Supp. 2d 953, 957 (N.D. Ill. 2008) 
(granting summary judgment on §§ 1692e(2)(A) and 
1692f(l) claims when plaintiff did not dispute that he 
made a payment towards balance within five years of 

statute oflimitations). 

7 As noted above, although Plaintiff has argued 
that the affidavits of Cheryl Kavanagh and Peter 
Fish are inadmissible hearsay because they are not 
based on the personal knowledge of the 
declarants, the Court has ruled that the 
declarations are admissible under the business 
records exception to the hearsay rule. 
8 In his discovery responses, Plaintiff stated that 
he had no documents related to his Providian 
account, no account statements, no cancelled 
checks, and no proof that any payment was made 
on his Providian debt. Additionally, Plaintiff 
could not recall where he banked at the time that 
he had the Providian credit [*33] card, so 
Defendants were unable to compare their records 
with Plaintiffs to confirm any payments Plaintiff 
may have made. However, Plaintiff stated that he 
does remember when he closed his account, that 
he paid off his credit shortly after closing account, 
and that he did not owe what Providian says he 
owed, yet he cannot recall where he banked or 
other specifics. 

As the foregoing discussion indicates, there is a 
genuine issue of material fact as to whether Plaintiff 
made the March 2004 payment that, if made, would 
render the state court lawsuit timely. However, a debt 
collector that violates any substantive provision of the 
FDCP A still may avoid liability by proving by a 
preponderance of the evidence that (i) the violation was 
unintentional, resulting from a "bona fide error," and (2) 
that error occurred "not-withstanding the maintenance of 
·procedures reasonably adapted to avoid any such error." 
JenAins v. Heintz, 124 F.3d 824, 828 (7th Cir. 1997). Or, 
as Defendants have put it, "Centurion had a good faith 
belief for pursuing its collection action in state court, and 
that is all that is required. II Def. SJ Mem. at 6; see also 
Def. Opp. Mem. at 9 (same). 

To prevail on a "bona fide error" [*34] defense, a 
debt collector need only show that its FDCPA violation 
was unintentional, not that its actions were unintentional. 
See Nielsen v. Dickerson. 307 F.3d 623. 641 (7th Cir. 
2002) (debt collector "may avail itself of the bona fide 
error defense because it had no intent to violate the 
FDCPA, although its actions were deliberate"). 
Therefore, even though the Court has determined that a 
genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether 
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Plaintiff made a payment that reset the statute of 
limitations, Defendants can still avoid liability at the 
summary jUdgment stage if they can demonstrate the 
absence of a triable issue of fact under the bona fide error 
defense. 

In the present case, relying on records which the 
Court has found to be reliable in denying Plaintiffs' 
motion to strike, Defendants determined that Plaintiff had 
made a payment in March 2004. Even if that 
determination were an "error," it was bona fide. "That is, 
if made, it was an error made in good faith; a genuine 
mistake, as opposed to a contrived mistake." Kort v. 
Diversified Collection Services, Inc., 394 F.3d 530, 538 
(7th Cir. 2005). Defendants were relying on the business 
records received from Capital One, which [*35] 
Centurion integrated into its own records and relied upon 
in its daily operations. Centurion, as a debt collector, was 
aware of the. penalties for attempting to collect bogus 
debts; therefore its re.liance on the records provides 
another assurance of reliability. 

.Mor~over, De.fendants employed procedures 
reasonably adapted to avoid the alleged error. Kavanagh's 
affidavit explains how Centurion's automated collection 
system database created the record of Plaintiff's debt. 9 

Centurion created the record of Plaintiff's alleged 
defaulted debt on December 8, 2005, the same day that 
Centurion purchased the debt from Capital One as part of 
a portfolio of defaults. As soon as Centurion had the 
information available to it, it created a record containing 
Plaintiffs credit card number, the amount of the debt, the 
last date of payment, and the debtor's last known address 
and social security number. Additionally, the record was 
transferred from Capital One to Centurion's automated 
collection system database without alteration. "§ J692k(c) 
does not require debt collectors to take every conceivable 
precaution to avoid errors; rather, it only requires 
reasonable precaution." Kort, 394 F.3d at 539 (affirming 
[*36] the grant of summary judgment to debt collector 
that asserted the bona fide error defense). Plaintiff has not 
presented any evidence to suggest that Defendants' 
procedures were not reasonable. Furthermore, "the 
FDCP A does not require collectors to independently 
verify the validity of the debt to qualify for the 'bona fide 
error' defense." Hyman V. Tate, 362 F.3d 965, 968 (7th 
Cir. 2004) (citing Jenkins V. Heintz, 124 F.3d 824, 
834-35 (7th Cir. 1997)) (collector qualified for "bona fide 
error" defense where it had in place procedures to prevent 
violations of the FDCP A, and the collector was not 

required to independently investigate and evaluate the 
validity of forced placed insurance charges»; see also 
Smith V. Transworld Sys .• Inc .• 953 F.2d 1025. 1032 (6th 
Cir. 1992) (concluding that the "bona fide error" defense 
does not require a collector to conduct an independent 
investigation of the debt referred for collection). 
Therefore, Centurion was entitled to rely on Capital One's 
records and Centurion's own procedures for accepting 
and using those records. Any other rule would require 
financial institutions to verify every entry in the account 
history of every loan that it bought from [*37] another 
institution - an untenable proposition absent a red flag 
concerning the record keeping practices of the prior 
institution. See Beal Bank, 83 J NE.2d at 914. In sum, 
based on the evidence adduced at summary judgment, the 
Court finds that Defendants employed procedures 
reasonably adapted to avoid the assumed error. Thus, 
Defendants are entitled to invoke the bona fide error 
defense and summary judgment in favor of Defendants 
Centurion and Blatt is appropriate on Counts I and II of 
Plaintiffs complaint. 

. 9 Kavanagh attests that she has personal 
knowledge of Centurion's record-keeping, she is 
competent to testify to those matters, and she has 
reviewed and is familiar with the records relating 
to Plaintiff's debt. 

B. Section 1692g 

In Count III, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants 
Centurion and Blatt never "gave" him notice required 
under § J692g and that the first contact he had from Blatt 
was when he was served with the Cook County complaint 
on August 8, 2006. Section 1692g(a) of the FDCPA 
provides: 

Within five days after the initial 
communication with a consumer in 
connection with the collection of any debt, 
a debt collector shall, unless the following 
information is contained in the [*38] 
initial communication or the consumer has 
paid the debt, send the consumer a written 
notice containing (1) the amount of the 
debt; (2) the name of the creditor to whom 
the debt is owed; (3) a statement that 
unless the consumer, within thirty days 
after receipt of the notice, disputes the 
validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, 
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the debt will be assumed to be valid by the 
debt collector; (4) a statement that if the 
consumer notifies the debt collector in 
writing within the thirty-day period that 
the debt, or any portion thereof, is 
disputed, the debt collector will obtain 
verification of the debt or a copy of a 
judgment against the consumer and a copy 
of such verification or judgment will be 
mailed to the consumer by the debt 
collector; and (5) a statement that, upon 
the consumer's written request within the 
thirty-day period, the debt collector will 
provide the consumer with the name and 
address of the original creditor, if different 
from the current creditor. 

15 U.S.e. § 1692g(a}. Blatt has provided evidence that on 
June 2, 2006, two months prior to filing the state court 
lawsuit, Blatt, on behalf of Centurion, first contacted 
Plaintiff by sending to his home address a letter [*39] 
stating the amount of the debt and the creditor's name and 
providing the validation notice as required by § 1692g(a}. 
Def.'s SMF 11, 13. Kenneth Wake, a partner at Blatt, 
testified about the process by which new collection 
accounts are received and downloaded into the computer 
system. Once the account is loaded, the computer 
automatically generates the initial demand letter by 
inserting the account-specific information into what is 
otherwise a form letter. Blatt provided the Court with an 
example form letter and that letter contains the required 
FDCP A validation notice. Blatt's computerized account 
notes confirm that the initial demand letter was sent on 
June 2, 2006. The June 2 letter was addressed to the same 
address (5 N. Wabash, Chicago, Illinois 60602) where 
Plaintiff subsequently was served (on August 9, 2006) 
with the state court lawsuit. The letter was not returned to 
Blatt. SMF 14. 

Plaintiff offers no evidence to rebut the fact that the 
June 2, 2006 letter was sent and that it contained the 
required validation notice. 10 Rather, Plaintiff asserts that 
he never received it. The FDCP A only requires the debt 
collector to send the notice, not to establish actual receipt. 
Mahon v. Credit Bureau of Placer County Inc .• 171 F.3d 
1197, 1201-02 (9th Cir. 1999) [*40] (debt collector must 
prove only that the notice was sent, not that it was 
actually received by the consumer); Zamos v. Asset 
Acceptance. LLC. 423 F. Supp. 2d 777. 786 (N.D. Ohio 
2006); Van Westrienen v. Americontinental Collection 

Corp., 94 F. Supp. 2d 1087,1096-98 (D. Ore. 2000). Had 
Congress wanted to impose such an obligation, it could 
have required debt collectors to send the validation notice 
by certified or registered mail, or via personal service, but 
it chose not to do so. See Walters v. PDI Management 
Servs., 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13972, 2004 WL 1622217. 
at *6 (S.D. Ind. April 6, 2004) (declining to find any 
certified mail requirement in Section 1692g, whether for 
debt collectors sending the validation notice or 
consumers sending a dispute). 

10 Plaintiff also claims that he never received 
any phone calls from Blatt (see Krawczyk Dep. 
pp. 43:22-44:5), even though Blatt's records 
reflect over thirty messages left on his answering 
machine, and two actual conversations with his 
wife (see Blatt SMF Ex. 3, PP 7, 9). 

Moreover, under the "mailbox rule," when a letter is 
mailed, a legal presumption arises that the letter was 
received. Boomer v. AT&T Corp .• 309 F.3d 404. 415 n. 5 
(7th Cir. 2002) ("Where a letter [*41] is properly 
addressed and mailed, there is a presumption that it 
reached its destination in usual time and was actually 
received by the person to whom it was addressed. ") 
(internal quotations omitted). A party "need not show 
conclusively that a document was placed in the mail; a 
custom or policy of mailing creates a presumption that 
such mailing occurred." Johnston, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
70814.2006 WL 2710663. *3 (N.D. III. Sept. 15, 2006). 

Plaintiff cannot rebut the presumption simply by 
claiming that he did not receive the letter. He did not 
submit any evidence to contradict Blatt's evidence that it 
followed its ordinary business practices and procedures in 
sending Plaintiff the notice. The Court concludes that 
there is no genuine dispute of fact that Blatt sent the 
required Validation of Debt Notice to Plaintiff as required 
by Section I 692g. See also Meckel v. Continental 
Resources Co .• 758 F.2d 811, 817 (2d Cir. 1985) (proof 
of proper mailing raises presumption that contents were 
received and some proof beyond mere denial of receipt 
must be adduced to overcome presumption and thereby 
survive summary judgment); Moore v. Blatt, 
Hasenmiller, Leibsker & Moore, LLC. 2006 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 44339. 2006 WL 1806195 (e.D. III. June 29, 
2006) (finding [*42] that "[b]ased on Ken Wake's 
affidavit, the Court concludes Blatt has established that 
the [validation notice] letter was mailed in a manner 
consistent with its regular office practices and 
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procedurestt
). Because Centurion and Blatt complied with 

Section J692g(a) by sending the letter to Plaintiff, 
summary judgment in favor of Defendants Centurion and 
Blatt is proper as to Count III. 

C. Counts V and VI Against Palisades and Blatt 

After the dismissal of the state court collection case 
against Plaintiff, Centurion sold Plaintiffs alleged debt to 
Defendant Palisades. Plaintiffs Counts V and VI - the 
same causes of actions asserted against Centurion and 
Blatt in Counts I and II - arise from a letter sent to 
Plaintiffs attorneys informing them that Plaintiffs debt 
had been purchased by Palisades and that Blatt was 
attempting to collect the debt on behalf of Palisades. 
Plaintiff alleges that the letter sent by Blatt on behalf of 
Palisades: (I) misrepresented that an alleged debt was 
owed at all, in violation of § 1692e; (2) misrepresented 
that "the alleged debt is not time-barred even though 
[Blatt] was made aware of this by Plaintiffs attorney on 
mUltiple occasions," also in violation [*43] of § J692e; 
and (3) threatened to sue Plaintiff in an attempt to collect 
a debt from him that he did not owe, in violation of § 
1692f. 

Applying the same reasoning set forth in assessing 
Counts I and II, the Court determines that, even if 
genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether a debt 
was owed and whether it was time-barred, Defendants are 
entitled to the bona fide error defense. In his affidavit, 
Peter Fish, director of litigation for Palisades, attests that 
Palisades received Plaintiffs account information in the 
ordinary course of business upon purchasing Plaintiffs 
alleged debt from Centurion. According to Fish, all of the 
information was transferred into Palisades' automated 
collection system database without alteration. That 
information included the credit card account number, the 
amount of the debt, the date Providian National Bank 
charged off the debt, the date of the last payment made by 
Plaintiff on the debt, and Plaintiffs last known address 
and social security number. Fish also stated that he had 
reviewed Palisades' records and could testify competently 
with respect to the records kept by Palisades. The Court 
has also determined, in ruling on the motion to [*44] 
strike and in assessing the merits of Count III, that 
Defendant Blatt followed its ordinary business practices 
and procedures in investigating Plaintiffs alleged debt. II 
Thus, the Court determines that any error made by Blatt 
and Palisades was made in good faith, any violation of 
the FDCP A was unintentional, and the assumed error 

occurred, if at all, despite the maintenance of procedures 
reasonably adapted to avoid any such error. Blatt and 
Palisades are entitled to the bona fide error defense and 
summary judgment in favor of Defendants Palisades and 
Blatt is appropriate on Counts V and VI of Plaintiffs 
complaint. 

II As previously noted by the Court, Plaintiff 
has not submitted any evidence to contradict 
Blatt's evidence that it followed its ordinary 
business practices and procedures in investigating 
Plaintiffs alleged debt and in sending Plaintiff 
notices required by the FDCP A. 

D. Malicious Prosecution Against Centurion and Blatt 

The Court's disposition of Plaintiffs FDCP A claims 
leaves only Plaintiffs state law claim for malicious 
prosecution. The Court's original jurisdiction in this case 
was based on the FDCP A, a federal statute. See 28 u.s. C. 
§ 1331 (federal question jurisdiction). [*45] The Court 
had supplemental jurisdiction over the state law 
malicious pr9s~cution claim. See 28 U.S.c. § 1367(a}. 
However, because the Court will grant summary 
judgment in favor of Defendants on all FDCP A claims, 
original jurisdiction is now lacking. As the Seventh 
Circuit consistently has stated, "it is the well-established 
law of this circuit that the usual practice is to dismiss 
without prejudice state supplemental claims whenever all 
federal claims have been dismissed prior to trial." Groce 
v. Eli Lilly & Co., 193 F.3d 496, 501 (7th Cir. 1999); 
Alonzi v. Budget Constr. Co., 55 F.3d 331, 334 (7th Cir. 
1995); Brazinski v. Amoco Petroleum Additivies Co., 6 
F.3d J 176, 1182 (7th Cir. 1993). Finding no justification 
to depart from that "usual practice" in this case, the Court 
dismisses without prejudice the state law malicious 
prosecution claim asserted in Count IV of Plaintiffs 
second amended complaint. 

v. Conclusion 

For these reasons, the Court grants Defendants' 
motion for summary judgment [69] as to Counts I, II, III, 
V, and VI and dismisses Count IV without prejudice. The 
Court denies Plaintiffs motion for summary judgment 
[72] in its entirety, and also denies Plaintitrs motion 
[*46] to strike the declarations of Cheryl Kavanagh, Peter 
Fish, and Kenneth Wake [81]. 

Dated: February 18, 2009 
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lsI Robert M. Dow, Jr. United States District Judge 

Robert M. Dow, Jr. 
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